Embracing Digital Technology by Older Adults: A Review of the Literature Elaheh Khademi

A Thesis in the Department of Education

Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Arts (Educational Studies)

> at Concordia University Montreal, Quebec, Canada

> > March 2024

© Elaheh Khademi, 2024

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By: Elaheh Khademi

Entitled: Embracing Digital Technology by Older Adults: A Review of the Literature Review

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts (Educational Studies)

complies with the regulations of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final examining committee:

	Chair
Dr. Miranda D'Amico	
	. .
	Examiner
Dr. Elsa Lo	
	Examiner
Dr. Miranda D'Amico	
	Thesis Supervisor(s)
Prof. Arpi Hamalian	
	Thesis Supervisor(s)
Approved by	
	Dr. S. Martin-Chang, Graduate Program Director
March 2024	

Dr. P. Sicotte, Dean of Faculty

Abstract

Embracing Digital Technology by Older Adults: A Review of the Literature

Elaheh Khademi

This comprehensive literature review was undertaken to advance our understanding of ways that technology can be a transformative force in the lives of older adults. By critically examining existing research, it summarises the current state of knowledge and pinpoints critical gaps in the field, offering some insights for both practical applications and future investigations. This review also highlights the significant potential of technology in enhancing social interactions and mitigating the pervasive issue of isolation among older adults. Leveraging technology to create meaningful social connections can substantially improve their quality of life, a prospect that deserves concerted attention and effort. Finally, this review encourages a continued commitment to research in areas that remain unexplored or underexplored within the current literature. By addressing these gaps, we can refine our understanding of how technology can better serve older adults and contribute to their overall well-being. This literature review not only provides a comprehensive analysis of the current state of knowledge but also offers a roadmap for action. The recommendations put forth here, grounded in the identified gaps and opportunities within the existing literature, collectively aim to enhance the quality of life for older adults and facilitate their successful integration into the digital age.

Acknowledgements

I express my sincere gratitude to Professor Arpi Hamalian, my esteemed supervisor, for her steadfast support and guidance throughout my master's program and the intricate process of crafting this thesis. Professor Hamalian's continuous encouragement, profound expertise, and invaluable insights have played a pivotal role in shaping the trajectory of my research, ultimately contributing to the successful completion of this endeavor. I consider myself truly fortunate to have had Professor Arpi Hamalian as my supervisor, and her mentorship has been a constant source of inspiration and motivation in my academic journey. I extend my heartfelt thanks for her dedication, encouragement, and the enduring impact she has had on my scholarly pursuits. I would also like to express my gratitude to Professor D'Amico and Dr. Elsa Lo, a committee member, for their valuable contributions to this work.

Dedications

I dedicate this thesis to my dearest professor, Arpi Hamalian, whose role transcends that of a mere educator. Prof. Hamalian has been my guide, an influential mentor, and, most importantly, an inspiring motherly figure throughout this academic journey. Her patient guidance, unwavering support, and the infusion of hope and courage have been the driving forces behind my achievements. This dedication is a small token of gratitude for the profound impact she has had on my personal and academic growth. Thank you, Prof. Arpi Hamalian, for being more than just a professor – for being a beacon of inspiration and strength.

Lis	t of Figures	x
Lis	t of Tables	xi
Ch	apter 1: Introduction, Problem Statement, Positionality, Research Question and Methodology	1
	Introduction	1
	Positionality	3
	Problem Statement	4
	Research Question	7
	How Does Digital Technology Impact the Lives of Older Adults?	7
	What Are the Benefits of Using Technology for Older Adults?	8
	What Are the Challenges and Limitations of Using Technology for Older Adults?	8
	Method of Inquiry	9
	Data Sources and Databases	9
	ProQuest	9
	JMRI (Journal of Medical Internet Research)	9
	ERIC (Education Resources Information Center)	9
	American Association for Adult and Continuing Education	9
	Google Scholar	10
	Adult Education Quarterly	10
	Search Strategy	10
	Data Collection and Analysis	10
	Conclusion	10
Ch	apter 2: Literature Review	12
	Older Adults and Technology: A Comprehensive Exploration	13
	Variability in Technology Adoption Patterns	13
	Alleviating Social Isolation through Technology	14
	Challenges and Resistance in Technology Adoption	15
	Enhancing Technological Literacy: Strategies and Approaches	15
	The Gray Digital Divide: Motivational Stages and Decision-Making	16
	Navigating the Digital Landscape	17
	Benefits from Technology for Older Adults	19
	Social Connection and Well-being: Mitigating Isolation	19
	Language Learning and Education: Empowering Through Digital Tools	20

Table of Contents

control and community. Postering inclusivity	20
Social Networks and Well-being: A Supportive Web	21
Comprehensive Benefits of Technology for Older Adults	21
Challenges and Barriers to Older Adults' Use of Technology: Navigating Complexity a	nd Facilitating
Inclusivity	23
Digital Literacy: Bridging the Divide	24
Learning Curve and Adaptation: Overcoming Technological Hurdles	24
Motivation and Engagement: Fostering Positive Digital Experiences	25
Privacy and Security Concerns: Navigating Complex Terrain	25
Health and Well-being: Tailoring Technology for Diverse Needs	26
Physical Challenges and Economic Implications: A Holistic Perspective	26
Social Isolation and Economic Force: Interplay of Challenges	27
Resistance to Change: Overcoming Ingrained Tendencies	28
An Exemplary Illustration of a Dissertation	
Impact of the Silver Tsunami	
Solutions for Better Engagement	31
Barriers to Overcome	32
An In-Depth Analysis of Two Cases from Lee's (2021) Dissertation within the Conte Adoption among Older Adults	ext of Technology 33
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis	•••••
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps	42
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device	42 42 42
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues	42 42 42 42 42
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes Reluctance to Explore Technology	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes Reluctance to Explore Technology Comparative Analysis of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes Reluctance to Explore Technology Comparative Analysis of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives Discussion	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes Reluctance to Explore Technology Comparative Analysis of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives Discussion Summary of the Chapter	42 42 42 42 42 42 43 43 43 43 43 43
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes Reluctance to Explore Technology Comparative Analysis of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives Discussion Summary of the Chapter	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes Reluctance to Explore Technology Comparative Analysis of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives Discussion Summary of the Chapter Chapter 3: Impacts of Digital Technology on Older Adults	
Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis Low Overall Usage Preference for Specific Apps Mixed Attitude Based on Device Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues Negative Language Use Limited Use for Specific Purposes Reluctance to Explore Technology Comparative Analysis of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives Discussion Summary of the Chapter Chapter 3: Impacts of Digital Technology on Older Adults Introduction	

Patient and Supportive Instructors	57
Accessibility Features	57
Peer Learning	57
Real-World Relevance	58
Continuous Support	58
Flexible Learning Options	58
Regular Practice	58
Positive Messaging	58
Feedback and Adaptation	58
Family and Caregiver Involvement	58
Financial Assistance	59
Pre-Covid	62
COVID	64
Post-COVID	66
Summary	66
Pre-COVID	67
COVID	68
Post COVID	68
Chapter Four: Summary, Limitation, and Recommendations	70
Recommendations and Implications	70
Limitations and Challenges	71
Call to Action	71
Older Adults Embracing Technology: A Path to Enhanced Well-being and Inclusion	71
Benefits of Technology Adoption for Older Adults	72
Challenges and Limitations	72
Recommendations for a More Inclusive Digital Environment	73
The Transformation of Technology and Older Adults: A Comparative Analysis	74
Transformative Benefits of Technology for Older Adults	74
Challenges and Barriers	75
Comparative Analysis of Cases	76
The Importance of Willingness and Desire	76
Recommendations for Policymakers and Researchers	77
Tailored Educational Programs	77

User-Centric Design	77
Psychological Support and Motivation	77
Inclusivity and Accessibility	77
Community Collaboration	78
Privacy and Security Measures	78
Promotion of Lifelong Learning	78
Policy Framework for Age-Friendly Products	78
Research on Older Adults' Preferences	78
Promotion of Social Engagement	78
Conclusion	79
Summary	80
Recommendations	81
User-Centric Design	81
Interdisciplinary Collaboration	82
Digital Literacy Training	82
Addressing Social Isolation	82
Continued Research	82
Limitations	82
Conclusion	83
References	86

LIST OF FIGURES FIGURE 1 CASE 1: BOB FIGURE 2 CASE 2: JOHN

List of Tables

TABLE 1 BENEFITS OF TECHNOLOGY FOR OLDER ADULTSTABLE 2 CHALLENGES AND BARRIERS FOR OLDER ADULTSTABLE 3 IMPACT OF SILVER TSUNAMI ACCORDING TO LEE'S (2021) DISSERTATIONTABLE 4 COMPARATIVE TABLE OF TECHNOLOGY ATTITUDES: JOHN AND BOB'S PERSPECTIVESTABLE 5 STRATEGIES FOR INCREASING TECHNOLOGICAL LITERACYTABLE 6 TEMPORAL CATEGORIZATION AND INTERCONNECTIONTABLE 7 CHAPTER FOUR KEY POINTS

Chapter 1: Introduction, Problem Statement, Positionality, Research Question and Methodology

Introduction

This thesis consists of four chapters. The first chapter introduces the problem statement, outlining the challenges and barriers older adults face when using technology. It also provides a clear understanding of the researcher's purpose and positionality, explaining the methodology and data collection strategies that were employed to address these challenges. Furthermore, it elucidates the research questions that guide the study. The second chapter presents a comprehensive literature review on older adults and technology, organized into three categories: older adults and technology, the benefits of technology for older adults, and challenges and barriers to the use of technology by older adults. This chapter synthesizes existing research to address the research questions and provide a nuanced understanding of the impacts and experiences of older adults with technology. Additionally, to enrich the analysis, a comparative example is included, illustrating the varied experiences of two adults engaging with technology. This comparative approach aims to illuminate the diversity of interactions and outcomes, offering a more comprehensive perspective on the relationship between older adults and technology. The third chapter examines the impacts of digital technology on older adults. It explores how older adults have responded to the adoption of technology, both before and after the COVID-19 pandemic. This chapter aims to provide insights into the evolving relationship between older adults and technology. Finally, the fourth chapter serves as the conclusion of the thesis. It presents a summary of the findings from the literature review and discusses how older adults have responded to the adoption of technology. Additionally, this chapter offers implications and recommendations for guiding older adults toward a more technology-enriched

life. It aims to provide practical insights for researchers, policymakers, and practitioners interested in enhancing the digital inclusion of older adults.

Digital technology and social media have become pervasive in our lives (Ariantini et al., 2021). The rapid surge in digital technology usage during the COVID-19 pandemic had significant implications, particularly for older adults (De' et al., 2020). While technology offers numerous advantages, it is crucial to recognize the challenges older adults face in order to tailor technology to their specific needs and enhance their engagement with the digital world.

The age of the target demographic plays a pivotal role in their technology literacy (Erben et al., 2023). The lockdown measures further exacerbated the situation for many older individuals, imposing unexpected demands for technology utilization. Handling electronic books and multitasking during virtual sessions, such as those on Zoom, presented additional challenges. As a result, assessing digital literacy in older adults is a complex task that warrants comprehensive research (Oh et al., 2021). This implies that older adults who lack the necessary digital literacy skills may struggle to effectively use and engage with technology, which can hinder their adoption and utilization of digital tools and devices. Nevertheless, in the context of older adults, a more in-depth examination is needed to discern technology's multifaceted impact on various aspects of their lives.

This thesis aims to explore the influence of digital technology on the lives of older adults. It seeks to address fundamental questions about how digital technology affects older adults, both positively and negatively, the advantages they derive from its use, and the obstacles and constraints they encounter. Through gathering insights into these inquiries, the objective is to ascertain whether digital technology functions as a helpful tool or a hindrance for older adults and to pinpoint effective strategies for mitigating any challenges that may arise. Furthermore, it intends to determine whether technology has predominantly acted as an enabler or a barrier in their lives in recent years.

Positionality

Digital technology has undeniably woven itself into the fabric of our daily lives (Yamin, 2019). As a seasoned second language teacher with over fifteen years of experience, I have had the privilege of working with diverse groups of learners. Throughout my career, one intriguing aspect I encountered was the distinct set of challenges associated with encouraging older adults to embrace digital technology, challenges that often differed significantly from the experiences of younger learners.

However, my perspective underwent a profound shift when I found myself in the role of a student during the unforeseen and transformative events of the COVID-19 pandemic. In response to the pandemic's constraints, I enrolled in Francization classes to learn French as a second language, alongside a group of older adult classmates. This firsthand experience allowed me to witness a wide spectrum of reactions among older adults when confronted with technology-dependent activities.

Some of my fellow learners, notably those who had not previously been exposed to digital tools, expressed feelings of exclusion and disheartenment. They grappled with the digital divide, struggling to navigate unfamiliar technology platforms and adapting to new learning methods. On the other hand, there were those among my older adult classmates who displayed remarkable enthusiasm and resilience in embracing technology as a learning tool.

It is important to recognize that learning a language has multiple benefits. Not only does it facilitate social inclusion and reduce isolation risks among newcomers (Kersh, 2021), but it also fosters a lifelong learning mindset (Rocco et al., 2020). Nevertheless, the pandemic's impact on education was profound, potentially exacerbating social isolation among older adults (MacLeod et al., 2021).

In response to these challenges, virtual courses were introduced to sustain older adults' language learning engagement. However, these online learning environments brought their own set of difficulties. Engaging in online multitasking activities, such as complex online listening exercises, demanded heightened concentration (Ross-Gordon et al., 2016). For older adults who were less tech-savvy, navigating these tasks independently proved to be a considerable challenge. The absence of in-person support exacerbated these difficulties and, in some cases, led to a decline in motivation, directly contradicting the fundamental objectives of adult education (Kersh et al., 2021).

This personal and professional journey ignited my curiosity about the future challenges I might face as an older adult. It also prompted a series of pressing questions about how older adults adapt to the fast-paced evolution of technology and the benefits and hurdles they encounter in bridging the "digital divide" (Arieli et al., 2023, p. 3). These questions serve as the foundation for my research, as I endeavor to shed light on the intricate relationship between older adults and technology, ultimately seeking to contribute to their digital inclusion and enriched quality of life.

Problem Statement

Digital technologies, especially those of the 21st century, have had a profound and transformative impact on various aspects of society, including communication, the economy, education, healthcare, privacy and security, and social and cultural norms (Yamin, 2019). These

technologies have revolutionized the way people, including older adults, interact, work, communicate, access information, and engage in various domains of life.

Older adults' engagement with technology is a dynamic landscape, and their responses to technology adoption can vary widely. This is evident in research conducted at the University of Third Age, where individuals who primarily used laptops and notebooks displayed a notably positive inclination towards technology usage, particularly in the context of English language learning (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). However, the journey of technology adoption among older adults is not uniform and is fraught with challenges, particularly in age-friendly language learning institutions.

One significant challenge arises from the diverse accessibility and proficiency levels that older adults possess when it comes to different digital devices and software applications. Some older adults may not have personal laptops or desktop computers and instead rely on tablets, mobile phones, or other digital media for their online activities. This diversity in device usage can create a digital divide within age-friendly learning environments, where individuals must navigate between screens and manage various software applications. Even with laptops, maintaining pace with younger learners who may be more tech-savvy can be particularly daunting (Castañeda, 2017).

Moreover, shared devices among older adult couples add another layer of complexity to this scenario. In classes predominantly composed of younger participants, where technology is seamlessly integrated into the learning process, shared devices may lead to logistical challenges and potential feelings of exclusion among older adults. This dynamic highlights the need for a nuanced approach to technology integration within age-friendly learning institutions, where considerations of accessibility and digital literacy are paramount (Macleod et al., 2021). Additionally, an individual's prior academic experience plays a pivotal role in shaping their learning process and technology adoption. Research has consistently shown that younger adults and those in advanced academic levels tend to exhibit higher levels of digital literacy (Castañeda, 2017). This digital literacy gap can influence how older adults approach technology in the context of language learning. Those with a strong educational background may be more adept at utilizing digital resources, while those with limited formal education may find themselves grappling with unfamiliar technology tools.

Furthermore, the utilization of social media and digital technology can have diverse impacts on older adults, particularly those with varying academic backgrounds. This underscores the importance of considering the influence of cultural, academic, and occupational diversity on their technology adoption and usage patterns (Benge et al., 2023). For instance, older adults who have previously held positions that required technology proficiency may be more inclined to embrace digital tools for language learning, whereas those with limited exposure to technology during their careers may face greater challenges.

To conclude, the responses of older adults to technology adoption are multifaceted and influenced by a myriad of factors, including device accessibility, digital literacy levels, and prior educational and occupational experiences. Understanding these complexities is essential for creating inclusive and effective age-friendly learning environments that cater to the diverse needs of older learners. In the pursuit of bridging the digital divide, it is imperative that educators and institutions consider these nuances and tailor their approaches to meet the unique requirements of older adults in their quest for language learning and technological proficiency.

Research Question

These research questions have been carefully formulated to delve into the intricate relationship between older adults and digital technology, shedding light on the multifaceted impacts of technology on their lives. I will expand upon each of these questions in accordance with the context provided: How does digital technology impact the lives of older adults?; What are the benefits of using technology for older adults?; What are the challenges and limitations of using technology for older adults?

These research questions are designed to explore the impact of digital technology on older adults' lives, examining both positive and negative aspects. Another question seeks to understand how older adults are actively embracing and utilizing various technologies. Additionally, the research will delve into the barriers and challenges that older adults face when attempting to incorporate digital technology into their lives. By synthesizing responses to these inquiries, we aim to determine whether digital technology serves as a facilitator or obstacle for older adults and identify effective strategies for addressing these challenges.

How Does Digital Technology Impact the Lives of Older Adults?

This question serves as the foundational inquiry in this research. It seeks to comprehensively understand the ways in which digital technology influences the daily lives of older adults. This impact assessment will encompass both positive and negative aspects. For instance, it aims to uncover how technology has improved communication, access to information, and healthcare for older adults, while also examining potential downsides such as social isolation and concerns related to privacy and security.

What Are the Benefits of Using Technology for Older Adults?

Building upon the first question, this inquiry focuses on elucidating the advantages that older adults accrue through their use of digital technology. It seeks to identify specific benefits, such as enhanced connectivity with family and friends, improved cognitive engagement through digital activities, and increased access to online services like telemedicine. By pinpointing these benefits, researchers can better understand the positive aspects of technology adoption among older adults.

What Are the Challenges and Limitations of Using Technology for Older Adults?

In this question, the thesis explores the hurdles and constraints that older adults encounter when engaging with digital technology. It delves into various challenges, such as technological barriers due to age-related factors, digital literacy issues, and potential cognitive or physical limitations that may hinder effective technology use. Furthermore, it considers the limitations of technology itself, including user interface design, accessibility, and the potential for technologyinduced stress or overload.

By investigating these three interrelated questions, the thesis aims to provide a holistic view of the older adult population's experiences with digital technology. This comprehensive examination will enable the identification of both opportunities and barriers, ultimately contributing to a better understanding of whether digital technology acts as a facilitator or an obstacle in the lives of older adults. Moreover, the findings can inform the development of successful strategies to mitigate challenges and optimize the benefits of technology for this demographic, thereby improving their overall quality of life in the digital age.

Method of Inquiry

Examining the questions employs a comprehensive literature review approach, delving into studies mostly published between 2017 and 2023 to ensure the inclusion of the most recent research findings in the field of older adults and technology.

Data Sources and Databases

To conduct this comprehensive literature review, a variety of academic databases and sources, including Google Scholar, were utilized. Several databases and platforms have been selected due to their relevance and robust collection of scholarly resources, and these are discussed below.

ProQuest

ProQuest is a multidisciplinary database that contains a wide range of research articles, theses, and dissertations covering various aspects of older adults' engagement with technology.

JMRI (Journal of Medical Internet Research)

JMRI is a prominent source for research related to technology and health, making it a valuable resource for investigating the impact of digital technology on older adults' well-being.

ERIC (Education Resources Information Center)

ERIC is particularly useful for accessing educational research related to older adults and their engagement with technology in educational settings.

American Association for Adult and Continuing Education

This source focuses on adult learning and education, providing insights into how older adults engage with technology for lifelong learning and skill development.

Google Scholar

Google Scholar was utilized as a comprehensive and interdisciplinary platform to ensure the inclusion of a broad spectrum of scholarly articles and publications. Its extensive coverage enhances the scope of the literature review, contributing to a more thorough understanding of the subject matter.

Adult Education Quarterly

This platform offers a rich collection of articles related to adult education and is particularly relevant for understanding older adults' technology adoption in educational contexts.

Search Strategy

The search strategy was tailored to the specific research questions formulated in this thesis. Keywords and phrases related to older adults and technology were combined to refine the search results.

Data Collection and Analysis

Once the relevant articles were identified, they were systematically reviewed and analyzed. Data extraction involved categorizing information based on the research questions, including impacts, benefits, challenges, and limitations associated with technology use among older adults. The findings were synthesized, and patterns and trends were identified across the selected literature.

Conclusion

The comprehensive literature review outlined in this thesis methodology aims to provide a nuanced understanding of the relationship between older adults and digital technology. By synthesizing recent research findings, the study seeks to shed light on the impacts, benefits, challenges, and limitations associated with technology use among older adults, ultimately contributing to a better comprehension of this important societal issue.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Within the intricate landscape of technology adoption among older adults, the pivotal role of attitudes becomes apparent, as highlighted in Lee's (2021) exploration of the diverse spectrum of older adults' attitudes towards technology. As we transition into the literature review chapter, our aim is to comprehensively examine the multifaceted relationship between older adults and technology. This chapter delves into three foundational categories, each contributing to a nuanced understanding of the landscape.

The first dimension, "Older Adults and Technology," serves as a canvas to unravel the dynamics of their interaction with digital innovations. Here, we navigate through the varied responses older adults exhibit, ranging from enthusiastic embracement to passive reservation. Lee's insights shed light on the complexity of this relationship, where comfort and enthusiasm coexist with skepticism and disinterest. Understanding these dynamics is crucial for developing targeted strategies that cater to the diverse attitudes within this demographic.

The second category, "Older Adults Benefit from Technology," extends beyond mere interaction to unearth the tangible advantages that technology can bring to the lives of older adults. This encompasses improved communication, access to information, and enhanced wellbeing through applications in healthcare and social connection. By exploring these benefits, the literature review underscores the positive impact that technology can have on the quality of life for older adults, dispelling misconceptions and emphasizing its potential as a transformative tool.

However, the narrative would be incomplete without addressing the challenges encapsulated in the third category, "Challenges and Barriers to Older Adults' Use of Technology." Here, the literature review meticulously dissects the obstacles that hinder the seamless integration of older adults into the digital landscape. Factors such as the digital divide, usability concerns, and privacy issues are laid bare, providing a comprehensive understanding of the barriers that must be overcome to ensure equitable access and engagement.

As this literature review chapter unfolds, the aim is not only to illuminate the complex landscape of older adults' technology adoption but also to emphasize the need for tailored strategies that consider the diverse attitudes and address the challenges that may impede their engagement. To bring these concepts to life, the chapter culminates with an illustrative example from a dissertation, showcasing the contrasting positive and negative attitudes of two cases towards the deployment of digital technology. This practical example serves as a microcosm, reinforcing the nuanced nature of older adults' relationships with technology and providing valuable insights for future endeavors in digital inclusion.

Older Adults and Technology: A Comprehensive Exploration

In the contemporary landscape, digital technology has become an integral aspect of our daily lives, transforming how we connect, communicate, and navigate the world (Yamin, 2019). For older adults, this digital transformation presents a unique set of challenges and opportunities, shaping their interactions with technology and influencing their overall well-being. This chapter undertakes a thorough exploration of the multifaceted relationship between older adults and technology, encompassing attitudes, patterns of usage, and the potential benefits and challenges associated with technological adoption in this demographic.

Variability in Technology Adoption Patterns

Lee's (2021) work underscores the diversity in attitudes among older adults towards technology. This spectrum ranges from individuals who embrace technology with comfort and enthusiasm to those who exhibit passive reservations and skepticism regarding its advantages. A critical analysis of older adults' utilization patterns, particularly their engagement with mobile technologies like smartphones and tablets, reveals a significant segment actively employing these devices (Schlomann, 2018). Understanding the nuances of this engagement requires considering sociodemographic factors such as age, gender, education, and interest in technology, which play crucial roles in shaping these patterns.

Notably, the adoption of technology by older adults is not a one-size-fits-all phenomenon. Personal achievements, the reminder function embedded within devices, and a general interest in health and physical activity emerge as notable facilitators influencing the adoption and utilization of these technologies among older adults (Schlomann, 2018). This underscores the need for a tailored approach that considers individual preferences, motivations, and barriers in fostering technological engagement.

Alleviating Social Isolation through Technology

One of the transformative roles of technology in the lives of older adults is its potential to alleviate social isolation and loneliness. Technological innovations, including digital communication platforms, virtual reality experiences, and telehealth services, have been developed to facilitate social connections and enhance overall well-being (Chen et al., 2023). Especially noteworthy is the role technology played during the pandemic, providing a means for older adults to interact, stay informed, and maintain connections (Chen et al., 2023).

Moreover, research indicates that technology can decrease the risk of depression and social isolation in older adults (Lee et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2023). However, the choices of technology adoption among older adults are influenced by their self-identity and self-perception. This examination delves into stereotypes and preconceptions associated with aging, contributing to older individuals' resistance or acceptance of technology (Astell et al., 2020).

Challenges and Resistance in Technology Adoption

Despite the potential benefits, older adults face challenges in adopting technology, with stereotypes and preconceptions associated with aging being significant contributors to resistance or acceptance (Astell et al., 2020). The examination of older adults' experiences highlights that the growth in their use of technology for various purposes, such as finance, family connection, and entertainment, has presented them with challenges that require support (Erben et al., 2023).

Research shows that older adults' use of technology is associated with lower subjective cognitive concerns, particularly in those with lower academic levels. In other words, older adults with lower education can benefit from technology to reduce their subjective cognitive concerns and promote cognitive health (Benge et al., 2023). This emphasizes the importance of recognizing the diverse motivations and strategies employed by older individuals to overcome identity-related barriers (Astell et al., 2020).

Moreover, studies have shown a positive relation between digital literacy and digital technology. Therefore, more research is required in this field to support and educate this vulnerable community and increase their digital literacy (Haase et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2021; Oh et al., 2021).

Enhancing Technological Literacy: Strategies and Approaches

To increase technological literacy among older adults, a multifaceted approach is essential. Tailored training programs, hands-on learning, patient instructors, and accessible devices form the cornerstone of effective technological literacy initiatives. Peer learning and real-world relevance can serve as powerful motivators for older adults, fostering a supportive community that encourages engagement with technology. Ongoing support and flexible learning options are crucial components of successful technological literacy programs. Regular practice is emphasized, ensuring that older adults not only gain theoretical knowledge but also develop practical skills through consistent engagement with technology. Positive messaging about technology's benefits should be emphasized, showcasing its potential to enhance various aspects of their lives.

Family and caregiver involvement plays a significant role in providing additional layers of support. Involving family members and caregivers in the learning process can contribute to a more conducive and supportive environment for older adults to navigate the digital landscape.

Financial barriers can hinder technology adoption among older adults, especially those on fixed incomes. Reducing these barriers through subsidies or discounts can make technology more accessible. This financial support can play a crucial role in ensuring that cost does not act as a prohibitive factor in the adoption of digital devices and services.

Feedback and adaptation based on older adults' input are essential for the effectiveness of training programs. Recognizing the unique challenges faced by older adults and tailoring programs to address their specific needs contribute to the success of initiatives aimed at enhancing technological literacy.

The Gray Digital Divide: Motivational Stages and Decision-Making

The emergence of a "gray digital divide" has raised questions about how older adults approach technology adoption in an era of increased online communication. McMath's (2017) quantitative study, conducted in West and Central Alabama, provides valuable insights into the motivational stages associated with technology adoption among older adults. Drawing from the Transtheoretical Model (TTM), which categorizes behavior change into stages, the research assesses factors influencing older adults' decisions regarding technology. It scrutinized the interplay between perceived benefits and drawbacks (decisional balance), as well as computer self-efficacy and general self-efficacy.

The study revealed that an older adult's perceived computer self-efficacy significantly influences technology adoption. Moreover, the perceived benefits weighed more heavily than the drawbacks in this decision-making process. This suggests that older adults either fully engage with technology or abstain, indicating a somewhat binary nature of adoption.

Demographic variables also play a significant role in shaping technology adoption, emphasizing the need for targeted interventions, public service announcements, and training programs. Accentuating the benefits of technology adoption and enhancing older adults' computer self-efficacy are essential components of bridging the gray digital divide and motivating them to become more technologically engaged.

Navigating the Digital Landscape

In conclusion, this comprehensive exploration emphasizes the transformative role of technology in the lives of older adults. From alleviating social isolation to promoting cognitive health, technology has the potential to enhance various aspects of well-being for this demographic. However, the nuanced nature of technology adoption, shaped by diverse attitudes, motivations, and barriers, underscores the need for tailored strategies and interventions.

Technological literacy emerges as a key factor in unlocking the full potential of technology for older adults. Effective instructional practices, along with personalized approaches, are essential for enhancing engagement and bridging the gray digital divide. As we delve deeper into the literature, the intricate tapestry of older adults' technology adoption unfolds, shedding light on both its potential and the hurdles that lie along the path to full digital inclusion.

Example from a Dissertation: Illustrating Positive and Negative Attitudes. As an illustrative example, McMath's (2017) study provides valuable insights into the motivational stages associated with technology adoption among older adults. The research not only highlights the factors influencing their decisions but also underscores the binary nature of adoption – older adults either fully engage with technology or abstain.

On the positive side, perceived benefits weigh more heavily than drawbacks in the decision-making process. Accentuating these benefits through targeted interventions and public service announcements becomes crucial for motivating older adults to embrace technology. Moreover, enhancing computer self-efficacy emerges as a key driver of technology adoption, suggesting that positive messaging and training programs emphasizing the capabilities of older adults in navigating the digital landscape can yield positive outcomes.

On the negative side, resistance to change is a significant barrier. Stereotypes and preconceptions associated with aging contribute to resistance or acceptance. This indicates the importance of addressing age-related stereotypes and fostering a supportive environment that encourages older adults to overcome identity-related barriers.

Overall, this example illustrates the nuanced landscape of attitudes toward technology adoption among older adults. Positive and negative attitudes coexist, influenced by factors ranging from perceived benefits and drawbacks to self-identity and societal stereotypes. Understanding this complexity is essential for crafting interventions and support systems that cater to the diverse needs of older adults, ultimately paving the way for meaningful and inclusive digital engagement.

Benefits from Technology for Older Adults

As digital technology continues to permeate all facets of society, its impact on older adults stands out as particularly transformative. This section explores in-depth the various ways in which older adults benefit from technology, examining its profound influence on social connection, well-being, education, collaboration, and social networks.

Social Connection and Well-being: Mitigating Isolation

One of the most significant benefits older adults derive from technology is the enhancement of social connections and overall well-being. Naudé et al. (2023) highlight the role of digital interactive television programs in fostering engagement and socialization in nursing programs. The utilization of technology not only provides avenues for social interaction but also contributes to improved mental health and life satisfaction. During the COVID-19 pandemic, technology emerged as a crucial tool in reducing social isolation among older adults (Chen et al., 2023). The ability to connect with loved ones through video calls, social media, and messaging apps became instrumental in mitigating loneliness and maintaining meaningful relationships (Haase et al., 2021).

Astell et al. (2020) emphasize the importance of supporting older adults in accepting and deploying digital technology to stay connected and engaged in society. The perceptions of advantages and disadvantages, coupled with confidence in using technology, significantly influence older adults' decisions to embrace digital tools (McMath, 2017). Tailoring interventions to address these factors becomes essential in motivating older adults to leverage technology for social connection.

Language Learning and Education: Empowering Through Digital Tools

The educational landscape for older adults has undergone a significant transformation with the integration of technology. Mobile devices, in particular, have become prevalent tools for language learning, offering ubiquitous access and enhancing educational experiences (Hwang & Fu, 2018). The potential benefits of digital interactive television programs in nursing homes further emphasize technology's role in improving communication, entertainment, and access to healthcare resources (Naudé et al., 2023).

The University of Third Age's positive response to using laptops and notebooks for online English language learning during the pandemic (Koutska & Biniek, 2021) underscores the adaptability of older adults to technology in educational contexts. Mobile learning and social media contribute to language learning skills, fostering motivation and engagement in vocabulary, pronunciation, and grammar (Arianti et al., 2021; Hwang & Fu, 2018). The dynamic nature of digital technology in education opens up new possibilities for older adults to engage in lifelong learning, promoting cognitive stimulation and personal growth.

Collaboration and Community: Fostering Inclusivity

Technology plays a pivotal role in supporting collaboration between educational institutions and community organizations, offering increased accessibility, flexibility, and tailored instruction for older adults (Kersh et al., 2021). The collaborative efforts result in the development of online courses, workshops, and programs that address the specific needs and interests of older individuals in their local communities.

Koutska and Biniek (2021) stress the potential advantages of technology in education, emphasizing the opportunities presented by digital transformation. The ability to tailor instruction to individual needs becomes crucial, ensuring inclusive and supportive technologyenhanced learning experiences for older adults. Through collaboration and community engagement facilitated by technology, older adults gain access to a diverse range of educational resources, promoting lifelong learning and personal enrichment.

Social Networks and Well-being: A Supportive Web

The importance of social networks in combating loneliness among older adults cannot be overstated (Hannan-Leith, 2022). Social connections, including relationships with family, friends, and online communities, play a vital role in the perception of social support. The concept of "chosen families" and strong social networks, particularly among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual (LGB) older adults, has been linked to greater life satisfaction (Hannan-Leith, 2022). The social integration theory introduced by Hannan-Leith (2022) emphasizes the positive influence of strong attachments to social groups and involvement in community organizations on psychological well-being.

Technology serves as a facilitator in maintaining and expanding social networks for older adults. Through social media platforms, online communities, and digital communication tools, older adults can stay connected, share experiences, and access emotional, instrumental, and informational support. The role of technology in supporting social networks becomes particularly significant in addressing the unique challenges faced by LGB older adults in terms of loneliness, living arrangements, and fostering positive well-being (Hannan-Leith, 2022).

Comprehensive Benefits of Technology for Older Adults

The benefits of older adults' engagement with technology extend across various dimensions, contributing significantly to their overall well-being. Fundamental to realizing these benefits is the role of effective technology training programs. These programs play a pivotal role in increasing the digital literacy of older individuals, equipping them with the skills to navigate and utilize digital devices and applications more comfortably (Phillips, 2019).

Enhanced technological proficiency opens doors to improved employment opportunities, allowing older adults to remain competitive in the job market or even explore new career paths. Beyond the professional realm, technology facilitates greater independence for older adults by supporting them in daily tasks such as online shopping, financial management, and accessing healthcare resources, thus enabling them to maintain autonomy in their lives (Phillips, 2019).

Moreover, technology serves as a powerful tool for fostering social engagement, bridging geographical gaps, and connecting older adults with friends and family through social media, video calls, and messaging platforms, thereby reducing the risk of social isolation (Phillips, 2019). Additionally, the internet offers a vast repository of information on health, hobbies, news, and more, empowering older adults to stay informed and engaged in various aspects of life.

In sum, the integration of technology into the lives of older adults brings about a range of benefits, enhancing their skills, opportunities, independence, and social connectedness (Phillips, 2019). The multifaceted advantages discussed in this section underscore the transformative potential of technology in fostering a positive and enriching experience for older individuals. As technology continues to evolve, so too will the scope of benefits, opening up new possibilities for older adults to lead fulfilling and connected lives in the digital age.

Benefits of Technology for Older Adults	Key Points
Social Connection and Well-being	- Technology enhances social connections and
	well-being Digital interactive TV fosters
	engagement in nursing programs Mitigates
	loneliness, crucial during the COVID-19
	pandemic Video calls, social media, and
	messaging apps combat isolation (Haase et
	al., 2021).
Language Learning and Education	- Technology transforms education for older
	adults Mobile devices, laptops, and
	notebooks aid language learning Positive
	response to online English learning during the
	pandemic Mobile learning and social media
	enhance language skills (Arianti et al., 2021).
Collaboration and Community	- Technology supports collaboration in
	education Enhances accessibility, flexibility,
	and tailored instruction Opportunities for
	digital transformation in education (Koutska
	& Biniek, 2021).
Social Networks and Well-being	- Crucial role in combating loneliness among
	older adults Technology facilitates
	maintaining and expanding social networks
	Connects older adults through social media,
	online communities (Hannan-Leith, 2022).
Comprehensive Benefits	- Technology training programs are
	fundamental Improved digital literacy leads
	to better employment opportunities
	Enhances independence, fosters social
	engagement Internet provides a vast
	repository of information (Phillips, 2019).

Table 1 Benefits of Technology for Older Adults

Challenges and Barriers to Older Adults' Use of Technology: Navigating Complexity and

Facilitating Inclusivity

The integration of technology into the lives of older adults brings forth a myriad of challenges and barriers, highlighting the need for nuanced strategies to address digital literacy, learning curves, motivation, privacy concerns, health-related limitations, social isolation, economic significance, and resistance to change. Understanding these complexities is essential in formulating effective interventions and initiatives that foster inclusivity and ensure the meaningful participation of older individuals in the digital landscape.

Digital Literacy: Bridging the Divide

Digital literacy stands as a foundational challenge in the realm of older adults' technology adoption. As Ariantini et al. (2021) point out, technology and social media have become pervasive in all aspects of our lives, creating a growing need for older adults to navigate these digital landscapes. The COVID-19 pandemic has further accelerated the importance of digital literacy, with De' et al. (2020) emphasizing the implications for older adults.

Arieli et al. (2023) highlight the demographic shift toward an aging population, underscoring the challenges in providing care and support for older adults. This shift brings to the forefront the critical issue of the digital divide among older individuals, accentuating the potential of gerontechnology to bridge this gap. Addressing digital literacy gaps becomes pivotal in ensuring that older adults have the necessary skills to harness the benefits of technology.

Learning Curve and Adaptation: Overcoming Technological Hurdles

Learning to use new technology presents a significant challenge for older adults, creating barriers rooted in concerns about design, functionality, and limited digital literacy (Pirhonen et al., 2020). Koutska and Biniek (2021) note the diverse learning needs and technological readiness of older adults, emphasizing the necessity for pedagogical approaches that accommodate older learners.

The learning curve can act as a barrier to immediate technology adoption (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). Older adults may take time to become comfortable with new tools, hindering their seamless integration into the digital landscape. Recognizing this challenge requires targeted

interventions, such as tailored educational programs and patient instructors, to facilitate a smoother learning experience for older adults.

Motivation and Engagement: Fostering Positive Digital Experiences

Motivation and engagement stand as crucial determinants in older adults' willingness to embrace technology. Health conditions, dependency on family members, and inadequate knowledge of digital applications were key challenges faced during the COVID-19 pandemic (Haase et al., 2021). User experience and a sense of control over technology significantly influence whether older adults engage with it (Theisen, 2022).

Negative stereotypes associated with aging can act as barriers to technology adoption (Astell et al., 2020). Overcoming these stereotypes and enhancing motivation requires addressing personal perceptions and fostering positive attitudes toward technology. Tailored interventions, awareness campaigns, and user-friendly interfaces can contribute to creating positive digital experiences for older adults.

Privacy and Security Concerns: Navigating Complex Terrain

Privacy and security concerns add layers of complexity to older adults' technology adoption. Phillips (2019) emphasizes the heightened vulnerability of older adults to online scams and privacy breaches. Health-related limitations, stemming from age-related conditions like cognitive decline, further challenge their effective use of technology.

Addressing privacy and security concerns requires robust measures, including userfriendly interfaces that prioritize data security and educational initiatives to enhance awareness. Tailoring technology to address these concerns is essential in building trust and confidence among older adults.
Health and Well-being: Tailoring Technology for Diverse Needs

Considering the diverse health conditions and well-being of older adults, challenges vary widely (Erben et al., 2023; Lee, 2021). User experience and a sense of control over technology are crucial predictors of whether older adults use technology for managing health information (Theisen, 2022). Emotional and psychological factors, such as depression, significantly influence older adults' performance with technology.

Understanding the facilitators and barriers to electronic personal records' use among older adults has implications for advancing healthcare (Theisen, 2022). Improving the user experience, addressing health-related challenges, and tailoring technology to diverse needs are imperative for effective technology adoption in the healthcare sector.

Physical Challenges and Economic Implications: A Holistic Perspective

Physical challenges, including vision problems, hearing impairments, and mobility issues, compound the difficulties faced by older adults in engaging with technology (Lee, 2021; Phillips, 2019). Financial constraints associated with device purchase and internet access add another layer of complexity, especially for those on fixed incomes.

Recognizing older adults aged 50 and above as a significant economic force emphasizes the need to address age-related barriers (Nguyen, 2021). This demographic not only contributes substantially to the economy but is also expected to witness significant growth in technologyrelated expenditures. Balancing economic interests with societal welfare involves developing age-friendly products, services, and addressing financial barriers to technology access.

Social Isolation and Economic Force: Interplay of Challenges

Social isolation emerges as a critical factor influencing older adults' engagement with technology (Lee, 2021). The experience of social exclusion, particularly among older Chinese immigrants, adds complexity, impacting well-being and contributing to feelings of isolation, depression, and diminished quality of life (Xu et al., 2023).

Recognizing older adults as a significant economic force underlines the economic importance of addressing their technological needs (Nguyen, 2021). Despite economic potential, the extent to which technology companies address age-related barriers remains uncertain, raising questions about inclusivity in technological advancements for older individuals.

Amidst these considerations, a myriad of limitations and barriers persist, creating challenges that cut across various domains for older adults seeking to embrace technology (Lee, 2021; Nguyen, 2021). One of the foremost hurdles is the pervasive issue of digital literacy gaps. A substantial portion of the older population may lack the necessary skills to navigate and effectively use technology, posing a formidable obstacle to their seamless integration into the digital landscape. This digital literacy gap not only impedes their ability to access the myriad benefits offered by technology but also contributes to a sense of exclusion and frustration.

The intertwining themes of social isolation, economic significance, and digital literacy challenges provide a nuanced perspective on the dynamics of older adults' engagement with technology. The interconnectedness of these themes underscores the importance of comprehensive strategies that go beyond technical training to address the broader societal and economic implications. As the demographic landscape continues to evolve, a concerted effort is required to ensure that technological advancements are inclusive and cater to the diverse needs of older adults, fostering a society where technology enhances the well-being and participation of individuals across all age groups.

Resistance to Change: Overcoming Ingrained Tendencies

Resistance to change among older adults, specifically in adopting new technologies, represents a recurring challenge (Lee, 2021). The reluctance stems from a comfort with established routines and apprehension about navigating unfamiliar technological landscapes. Phillips (2019) further emphasizes the propensity of older adults to resist change, particularly when faced with the prospect of integrating new technologies into their lives.

This resistance poses a challenge for interventions and initiatives aiming to enhance technological engagement among older adults. Strategies need to address ingrained tendencies with sensitivity and targeted support. Tailored training programs, positive messaging about technology's benefits, and inclusive design approaches can contribute to overcoming resistance and fostering a more positive attitude toward technological change.

Challenges and Barriers for Older Adults	Key Points
Digital Literacy: Bridging the Divide	- Foundational challenge for older adults
	Aging population emphasizes the need to
	address the digital divide Gerontechnology
	can enhance digital literacy.
Learning Curve and Adaptation	- Significant challenge in learning new
	technology Diverse learning needs require
	tailored approaches Learning curve acts as a
	barrier Interventions, programs, and patient
	instructors are crucial.
Motivation and Engagement	- Crucial determinants in technology
	adoption Health conditions and inadequate
	knowledge were challenges during COVID-
	19 User experience and stereotypes
	influence engagement Interventions and
	user-friendly interfaces are needed.

 Table 2 Challenges and Barriers for Older Adults

Privacy and Security Concerns	- Adds complexity to technology adoption
	Vulnerability to scams and breaches requires
	robust measures Trust-building includes
	user-friendly interfaces.
Health and Well-being	- Diverse health conditions present
	challenges User experience is crucial for
	managing health information Emotional
	factors influence technology performance
	Tailoring technology is imperative.
Physical Challenges and Economic	- Vision and mobility issues complicate
Implications	technology use Financial constraints add
	complexity Recognizing older adults as an
	economic force underscores the need for age-
	friendly solutions.
Social Isolation and Economic Force	- Social isolation is a critical factor
	Exclusion among older immigrants adds
	complexity Recognizing older adults as an
	economic force raises questions about
	inclusivity.
Resistance to Change	- Recurring theme in technology adoption
	Reluctance stems from comfort with routines.
	- Ingrained tendencies pose a challenge
	Tailored training, positive messaging, and
	inclusive design are essential.

In conclusion, the challenges and barriers faced by older adults in deploying technology are multifaceted, encompassing digital literacy, learning curves, motivation, privacy concerns, health-related limitations, physical challenges, social isolation, economic significance, and resistance to change. Addressing these challenges requires a holistic approach that goes beyond technical training to encompass broader societal, economic, and cultural factors. Initiatives tailored to the specific needs of older adults, user-friendly interfaces, and awareness campaigns are crucial in facilitating a positive and inclusive technological landscape for this demographic. As technology continues to play an increasingly central role in our lives, ensuring that older adults can navigate and benefit from it is not just a matter of individual well-being but also a societal imperative for fostering digital inclusion across generations.

An Exemplary Illustration of a Dissertation

At the culmination of this chapter, various studies and dissertations underscore the imperative of exploring how older adults embrace technology. The concept of the "silver tsunami," symbolizing the rapid aging of the population, particularly the baby boomer generation, holds profound implications for the technological adoption by older adults, as evidenced by Lee's work in 2021. This demographic shift has propelled a shift in focus from merely extending lifespan to enhancing the quality of life for older adults, recognizing the pivotal role that technology can play in achieving this goal. Nevertheless, this endeavor is not without its challenges, and careful consideration of solutions and barriers is essential to ensure effective and meaningful engagement between older adults and technology.

Impact of the Silver Tsunami

The influence of the silver tsunami on technology adoption among older adults is intricate and multi-faceted. On one hand, the escalating demand for healthcare and support services for seniors has spurred innovations in telehealth, remote monitoring, and assistive technologies. This surge encourages older adults to adopt technology as a means to manage their health, stay connected with loved ones, and access vital services. However, this demographic shift also brings to light specific challenges.

Digital Divide. Not all older adults share the same level of access to and familiarity with technology. Socioeconomic factors and educational backgrounds can contribute to a digital divide, creating discrepancies in means and skills for technology adoption among older adults.

Usability Concerns. Many older adults are not accustomed to the user interfaces and interaction patterns of modern digital devices and software, leading to difficulties in usage, frustration, and resistance.

Privacy and Security. Concerns about privacy and security are heightened among older adults, contributing to wariness in sharing personal information or engaging in financial transactions online.

Solutions for Better Engagement

Effectively addressing the challenges posed by the silver tsunami necessitates tailored solutions for better engaging older adults with technology. Following are some examples of potential solutions that can be employed for this purpose.

Digital Literacy Programs. Implementing digital literacy programs specifically targeting older adults to teach essential digital skills such as using smartphones, navigating the internet, and understanding online safety.

User-Friendly Interfaces. Designing technology interfaces with older adults in mind, incorporating larger fonts, intuitive navigation, and clear icons aligned with their cognitive abilities to improve usability.

Personalized Training. Offering personalized training sessions or workshops to help older adults become comfortable with specific technologies, apps, or devices, thereby boosting confidence and reducing barriers to adoption.

Remote Support. Providing remote technical support to assist older adults when they encounter challenges, offering easily accessible help lines or online support chat options to make a significant difference.

Awareness Campaigns. Conducting public awareness campaigns to educate older adults about the benefits of technology, highlighting real-life examples of how technology can enhance their lives.

Barriers to Overcome

Overcoming barriers to technology adoption among older adults requires a concerted effort. The following are some potential barriers faced by older adults when adopting new technologies into their lives.

Resistance to Change. Older adults may resist change, particularly when it comes to adopting new technologies, often due to a comfort with existing routines and apprehension about embracing new tools.

Health Issues. Physical and cognitive health issues, such as arthritis or vision problems, can create barriers to technology adoption by making device usage challenging.

Social Isolation. Isolation can discourage older adults from engaging with technology, particularly if they lack a support system to help them learn and troubleshoot.

Cost. The cost associated with devices, internet access, and relevant services can be prohibitive for some older adults, especially those on fixed incomes.

In conclusion, the silver tsunami underscores the imperative for older adults to adopt technology for an improved quality of life. However, this adoption is not without its challenges, including the digital divide, usability concerns, and privacy worries. Solutions encompass digital literacy programs, user-friendly interfaces, personalized training, remote support, and awareness campaigns. Barriers to overcome include resistance to change, health issues, social isolation, and cost constraints. Addressing these challenges and implementing tailored solutions can enhance

the engagement of older adults with technology, unlocking its potential for their well-being and

overall quality of life.

Table 3 Impact of Silver Tsunami According to Lee's (2021) Dissertation

Impact of the Silver Tsunami
The influence on technology adoption among older adults is intricate and multi-faceted.
Positive Aspects
- Escalating demand for healthcare and support services.
- Spurred innovations in telehealth, remote monitoring.
- Encourages older adults to adopt technology for health.
- Enhances connectivity with loved ones.
- Access to vital services.
Solutions for Better Engagement
- Digital Literacy Programs: Tailored for older adults.
- User-Friendly Interfaces: Design with larger fonts and intuitive navigation.
- Personalized Training: Boost confidence, reduce barriers.
- Remote Support: Easily accessible help for technical challenges.
- Awareness Campaigns: Highlight benefits through real-life examples.
Barriers to Overcome
- Resistance to Change: Comfort with existing routines.
- Health Issues: Physical and cognitive challenges.
- Social Isolation: Lack of support system for learning.
- Cost: Prohibitive for some, especially on fixed incomes.
Conclusion
The silver tsunami underscores the imperative for older adults to adopt technology for an improved quality of life. Challenges include the digital divide, usability concerns, and privacy worries. Solutions include digital literacy programs, user-friendly interfaces, personalized training, remote support, and awareness campaigns. Barriers to overcome encompass resistance to change, health issues, social isolation, and cost constraints. Addressing these challenges and implementing tailored solutions can enhance the engagement of older adults with technology, unlocking its potential for their well-being and overall quality of life.

An In-Depth Analysis of Two Cases from Lee's (2021) Dissertation within the Context of

Technology Adoption among Older Adults

Lina Lee's (2021) dissertation, "Reconceptualizing the Engagement of Older Adults in the

Use of Interactive Technology," delves into the underexplored realm of initial engagement

among older adults with interactive technologies. Recognizing the impending "silver tsunami"

and the transformative impact of technology on the aging population, the study employs a mixed-method approach to assess interventions and identify key factors influencing older adults' initial engagement. The research contributes a novel model for understanding older adults' engagement with interactive technology, introduces an active-passive spectrum of behaviours, and highlights the critical role of initial engagement over need and usability. Emphasizing the social context, Lee argues for providing a positive and pleasurable technology experience for older adults, fostering self-efficacy and gradually reducing resistance. The dissertation underscores the need for comprehensive perspectives in technology design, especially in the current COVID-19 era, and sets the stage for designing interactive systems that cater to the unique needs of older adults, enhancing their overall engagement with technology.

In this thesis, the examination is confined to a meticulous analysis of two cases extracted from Lee's (2021) dissertation. Lee's research uniquely delves into the attitudes of older adults toward technology adoption, specifically highlighting two distinct cases—one characterized by a positive disposition and the other by a negative orientation.

These two cases serve as pivotal focal points within the confines of the literature review presented in this chapter. The extensive literature review navigates through the complex terrain of older adults' engagement with technology, encapsulating multifaceted dimensions such as social connection, well-being, education, collaboration, and the array of challenges and barriers encountered in the technological landscape (Naudé et al., 2023; Chen et al., 2023; Arieli et al., 2023; Haase et al., 2021; Hwang & Fu, 2018; Koutska & Biniek, 2021; Hannan-Leith, 2022; Theisen, 2022; Koutska & Biniek, 2021; Phillips, 2019; Lee, 2021; Nguyen, 2021).

Drawing from the rich tapestry of insights garnered from the literature, the analysis of the two cases unfolds within the contextual framework established by prior research. The positive

case is meticulously examined in light of the identified benefits of technology, encompassing enhanced social connections, improved well-being, and educational empowerment. Conversely, the negative case is scrutinized through the lens of the challenges and barriers elucidated in the literature, elucidating the nuanced interplay of factors contributing to a less favorable attitude toward technology adoption.

Furthermore, the synthesis of these case-specific analyses culminates in a comparative table, strategically positioned at the culmination of this chapter. This tabular representation succinctly encapsulates the outcomes derived from the positive and negative cases, providing a synthesized visual aid that facilitates a comprehensive understanding of the divergent attitudes and experiences encountered by older adults in their interaction with technology. In adopting this structured approach, the thesis aims to contribute a nuanced layer of depth to the ongoing discourse surrounding older adults, technology adoption, and the underlying determinants shaping their attitudes and engagement.



Active Aging: Active, Positive, Happy, Likes having fun, Open minded

Bob is a Pakistani immigrant living in Charlotte for the last 40 years. He is a spirited person who desires active community involvement. After several years of work at a store, Bob can now enjoy his retirement. Bobs' hobby is socializing; therefore, he enjoys acquaintances with his family and friends and meets new people, including fellow Pakistan immigrants. Consequently, he has many friends and an active social life. Besides, Bob is a puritanical person and attends church every Sunday in the company of his wife. He is financially established and healthy but takes virtuous care of himself. Using the internet, Bob maintains contact with friends but still prefers direct contact whenever possible. Although he fancies new technologies and is receptive to new ideas, he still requires assistance on his smartphone usage. When he faces some technological challenges, he seeks help from a friend who is almost his age mate and tech-savvy since he doesn't want to inconvenience his children. This help has made him acquire elementary knowledge of technology, which has enabled him to regularly use a smartphone for interaction. He is still curious about technology because he thinks it would simplify his life. Bob appreciates having a smartphone because it had simplified his life and still reminisces the day when his companion bought him a phone. However, he even doesn't want to inconvenience his son because he is occupied.



Figure 6.1: Case 1- Representative character to present positive attitude towards technology

Note. From *Reconceptualizing the engagement of older adults in the use of interactive technology* [Doctoral dissertation, University of North Carolina] by L. Lee, 2021, p.141. https://ninercommons.charlotte.edu/islandora/object/etd%3A2403

Bob demonstrated a consistently positive attitude towards technology throughout the

GrandPad study, showcasing a willingness to explore new functions and try new things. In

contrast to the other participants, Bob encountered no difficulties during the study and actively

engaged in daily tasks without reporting inconvenience. His primary interests were in the reading, game, and music apps of the GrandPad.

Bob's positive outlook extends beyond the study, reflecting his long-standing relationship with mobile technology. Recalling his first cellphone, a Motorola flip phone, received as a birthday gift from his wife, Bob emphasized the sentimental value associated with the device. Despite the interview focusing on the functional aspects of technology, Bob's responses were intertwined with personal memories and emotional connections.

When asked about his feelings while using the phone feature, Bob shared a heartening experience of receiving a message from a friend with whom he shared a history of 45 years, evoking happiness. Notably, Bob emphasized the joy derived from connecting with friends through technology, highlighting the social aspect of his engagement.

Furthermore, Bob's positive disposition towards technology is influenced by his peer community within the Pakistani immigrant group. He finds comfort in seeking assistance from friends rather than burdening his busy son. Learning video call features from a friend, Bob actively participates in video chats with multiple groups, demonstrating his adaptability and social integration through technology.

Bob's positive attitude is rooted in the initial engaging experiences with technology and strengthened by the well-developed peer community. His case illustrates the importance of positive initial encounters with technology for older adults, emphasizing the role of emotional connections and social support in fostering a favorable outlook toward technology adoption.

Examination and Analysis of Discourse in Accordance with the Thesis

Bob's positive attitude toward using technology is evident across various categories, showcasing his willingness to embrace and engage with digital devices. Bob demonstrated a positive disposition in the following key categories.

New Technology Adoption. Bob showed no problems with trying something new or using new functions of mobile technology. Maintained a positive attitude throughout the three-month GrandPad study, in contrast to other participants.

Daily Task Performance. Faithfully performed daily tasks in the Diary study without reporting any difficulty or inconvenience. Actively used and showed interest in specific apps, including reading, game, and music apps on the GrandPad.

Memories and Sentimental Value. Shared positive memories associated with his first cellphone, a Motorola flip phone, received as a birthday gift from his wife. Demonstrated emotional attachment to the mobile device, emphasizing the sentimental value.

Peer Interaction and Social Engagement. Engaged in video chats with multiple groups, including friends he has known for 45 years. Found comfort in seeking assistance from friends within the Pakistani immigrant group rather than burdening his son.

Learning and Adaptability. Learned how to use the video call feature from a friend and actively participated in video chats. Adapted to new features and functions, showcasing a positive attitude toward learning and exploration.

Positive Emotional Responses. Expressed happiness upon receiving a message from a friend, emphasizing the joy derived from connecting with long-term acquaintances.

Community Support and External Factors. Maintained a positive attitude toward technology due to a well-developed peer community, which provided support and made his attitudes even more positive. Found it more comfortable to seek help from friends within the immigrant group rather than his busy son.

Bob's positive attitude spans across these categories, demonstrating a holistic and favorable outlook toward the use of technology in various aspects of his life, including daily activities, emotional connections, and social engagement.



Passive Aging: Negative, Anxious, Inactive

John is isolated despite having some acquaintances. However, he lacks close associates as he doesn't participate in sporting or group actions, although he habitually attends the church. Despite appreciating that he is healthy and alive, he is occasionally in solitude. Recently, his daughter has temporarily relocated to his residence due to childbirth, and John is delighted to stay with his daughter's family. John is healthy, but he has detected that age is catching up with him because of the little challenges that he encounters while performing household chores. John has no ear impairment but requires to use bifocals. He isn't curious about technology and contemplates that technology is unnecessary for his life, hence his deleterious perspective towards technology and his depiction of mobile phones as a form of disturbance. However, John owns a smartphone that he uses to perform limited tasks to the extent of not receiving calls; he only uses a zoom in the specification when viewing snapshots. Moreover, he has an interest in the resolve the wire connections; apart from this, a cellphone is unnecessary in his life. He asserts that he is complacent and only passionate about his hobby of restoring his car and gardening; therefore, he doesn't want to acquire smartphone usage knowledge.

GOAL



Figure 6.2: Case 2 - Representative character to present negative attitude towards technology

Note. From *Reconceptualizing the engagement of older adults in the use of interactive technology* [Doctoral dissertation, University of North Carolina] by L. Lee, 2021, p.141. https://ninercommons.charlotte.edu/islandora/object/etd%3A2403

According to the interview in Lee's dissertation, John exhibited a negative attitude

toward using technology, particularly mobile phones, during the GrandPad study. Despite being

experienced in using technology, his usage of the GrandPad was limited, and he only used it for

12 days in the first month of the study. His disinterest was evident in his low engagement with daily tasks, not due to technical difficulties but a lack of interest in the activities.

In contrast to his negative views on mobile phones, John had a very positive experience with a PlayStation, enjoying playing games with his family. When discussing a computer, he expressed familiarity and comfort, having learned to operate it during his military service. However, his negative perception of mobile phones was pronounced, describing them as good only for emergencies. He expressed a strong dislike for touch screens, preferring the old flip phone style and criticizing the small size of the keyboard.

John's negative views were often associated with physical discomfort, including issues with touch screens, small buttons, and difficulty reading texts without glasses. He frequently used words like "hate" and "do not like" to convey his negative feelings toward phones. Even when using a mobile phone for hobbies, he maintained an active attitude, demonstrating specific features and expressing frustration with the device's limitations.

Despite his aversion to mobile phones, John actively used them for specific purposes, such as magnifying small texts for his hobbies. He demonstrated a willingness to explore and use certain features that catered to his needs, highlighting the importance of understanding how existing functions can be adapted to suit older adults' needs. This nuanced perspective underscores the need for technology design that considers seniors' abilities and experiences to enhance their engagement with interactive technology.

John's negative attitude toward using technology is apparent across several categories, indicating areas where he encounters discomfort or expresses dissatisfaction.

Low Overall Usage

John exhibited the lowest total usage time among the participants in the GrandPad study, using it for only 12 days in the first month. Did not complete daily tasks well, citing disinterest in the activities rather than technical difficulties.

Preference for Specific Apps

While he had a negative overall attitude toward technology, John showed some interest in specific apps, notably the magnifier app and the music app on the GrandPad.

Mixed Attitude Based on Device

Displayed a very negative attitude toward mobile phones, using terms like "hate" and "do not like." In contrast, had a positive experience with the PlayStation, describing it as enjoyable and without difficulties. Expresses a more neutral and positive stance toward computers, citing familiarity and usage for connecting with friends and relatives.

Physical Discomfort and Accessibility Issues

Cites physical discomfort as a significant factor in his negative attitude, including issues with touch screens, small buttons, and difficulty reading without glasses. Expresses frustration with the touch screen and the small size of buttons, leading to mis-clicks and unwanted pop-ups.

Negative Language Use

Consistently uses negative words like "hate," "do not like," and "frustrated" when discussing mobile phones. Expresses a general dislike for texting and mentions feeling like throwing away the phone.

Limited Use for Specific Purposes

Despite his overall negative attitude, John actively uses the mobile phone for specific purposes, such as magnifying small texts for electrical work. Highlights the utility of certain features that align with his needs, demonstrating adaptability.

Reluctance to Explore Technology

Older adults' reluctance to explore technology is emphasized, citing fears of breaking down the device or ruining the interface by using it incorrectly. Emphasizes the importance of creating contexts where older adults can freely explore technology functions.

John's negative attitude toward technology is multifaceted, involving discomfort with specific devices, physical limitations, and a reluctance to explore technology fully. Despite this, he demonstrates a nuanced relationship with technology, showing interest in specific applications that align with his needs.

Comparative Analysis of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives

John and Bob, as participants in the GrandPad study, exhibited distinct attitudes toward using technology. While John displayed a predominantly negative attitude, particularly towards mobile phones, Bob's engagement with technology was more positive and enthusiastic.

John's negative views were evident in his limited usage of the GrandPad, low engagement with daily tasks, and explicit expressions of dislike towards mobile phones. He associated his discomfort with physical challenges, such as difficulty with touch screens, small buttons, and the need for reading glasses. Despite these challenges, John actively used the mobile phone for hobbies, demonstrating a willingness to explore and use specific features that aligned with his interests. On the other hand, Bob showcased a more positive and enthusiastic attitude toward technology. He engaged with the GrandPad more actively, using it for various activities and demonstrating a higher level of interest. Bob's positive perception of technology, as seen in his active participation, contrasts with John's more reluctant approach.

The importance of willingness and desire in older adults' engagement with technology is a recurrent theme in the literature review. Motivation and engagement are crucial determinants of older adults' willingness to embrace technology, as discussed by Arieli et al. (2023) and Theisen (2022). Positive experiences, user-friendly interfaces, and personal control over technology significantly influence engagement (Theisen, 2022). Moreover, addressing negative stereotypes and fostering a positive perception of technology among older individuals are essential for successful adoption (Astell et al., 2020).

In the context of John and Bob, their differing attitudes reflect the varying impacts of willingness and desire on older adults' technology use. Bob's positive attitude likely contributes to enhanced well-being, social connection, and overall satisfaction with technology. Conversely, John's reluctance and negative associations with mobile phones highlight the potential barriers that can hinder the adoption and utilization of technology.

The literature emphasizes the need for tailored interventions, educational programs, and user-friendly interfaces to foster positive digital experiences (Pirhonen et al., 2020). The interconnectedness of motivation, engagement, and user experience underscores the importance of addressing these factors to promote successful technology adoption among older adults.

In conclusion, John and Bob's divergent attitudes toward technology underscore the significant impact of willingness and desire on older adults' engagement with technology.

Understanding and addressing these psychological aspects are crucial for designing technology that aligns with the needs and preferences of older individuals, ultimately enhancing their wellbeing and quality of life.

Categories	Bob's Positive Attitude	John's Negative Attitude
New Technology Adoption	- No problems trying new	- Exhibited low overall usage,
	functions of technology	used for only 12 days
	- Maintained positive attitude	- Did not complete daily tasks
	throughout study	well
Daily Task Performance	- Faithfully performed daily	- Showed some interest in
	tasks without issues	specific apps
	- Actively used and showed	- Mixed attitude based on the
	interest in various apps	device (e.g., PlayStation)
Memories and Sentimental	- Shared positive memories	- Cites physical discomfort
Value	about his first cellphone	and accessibility issues
	- Demonstrated emotional	- Consistently uses negative
	attachment to the device	language
Peer Interaction and Social	- Engaged in video chats with	- Actively uses mobile phone
Engagement	various groups	for specific purposes
	- Found comfort seeking	- Emphasizes utility of certain
	assistance from friends	features
	within immigrant group	- Reluctant to explore
	rather than his son	technology
Learning and Adaptability	- Learned to use video call	- Demonstrated adaptability
	feature from a friend	in using specific features
	- Adapted to new features and	- Highlights utility of features
	functions	aligning with needs
Positive Emotional	- Expressed happiness upon	- Uses negative language to
Responses	receiving messages	express dislike
	from friends, emphasizing joy	- Limited use for specific
	of connections	purposes
Community Support and	- Maintained positive attitude	- Reluctance to explore
External Factors	due to peer support	technology fully
	- Found comfort seeking help	
	from friends rather than son	

 Table 4 Comparative Table of Technology Attitudes: John and Bob's Perspectives

Discussion

Comparing Bob and John's attitudes towards using technology provides valuable insights into the topic of "embracing digital technology by older adults." Bob, with his positive outlook

and active involvement in technology, represents a favorable case where older adults are willing and enthusiastic about embracing digital advancements. His engagement highlights the potential for technology to be seamlessly integrated into the lives of older individuals, contributing to positive experiences and well-being.

On the other hand, John's negative attitude towards technology, despite having experience and proficiency, reflects the complexities and challenges that some older adults face in adopting digital tools. John's reluctance, discomfort, and frustration underscore the importance of addressing psychological barriers and tailoring technology to meet the diverse needs and preferences of older individuals.

In essence, the comparison between Bob and John suggests that the willingness and desire of older adults play a crucial role in determining their engagement with digital technology. It emphasizes the need for personalized interventions, user-friendly interfaces, and strategies that account for the psychological aspects influencing technology adoption among older individuals. Understanding and addressing these factors are vital steps towards fostering a more inclusive and positive environment for older adults in the realm of digital technology.

The cases of Bob and John illustrate the diversity in older adults' attitudes and behaviors regarding technology. While Bob demonstrates a positive and active engagement, John's negative outlook highlights that not all older individuals embrace technology uniformly. The stark difference in attitudes emphasizes the significance of individual willingness and desire in shaping older adults' engagement with technology. Bob's positive experiences and active involvement are driven by his interest, while John's negative feelings highlight the impact of psychological barriers. John's case underscores the presence of psychological barriers, such as discomfort, frustration, and negative associations, which can impede older adults' adoption of

technology. These barriers need to be understood and addressed to facilitate a more positive and effective integration of digital tools into their lives.

The contrasting experiences of Bob and John highlight the need for tailored interventions. One-size-fits-all approaches may not be effective in promoting technology adoption among older adults. Strategies should consider individual preferences, experiences, and psychological factors to enhance engagement. Nevertheless, the positive experiences of both Bob and John with specific technologies emphasize the importance of user-friendly design. Intuitive interfaces and functionalities that align with older adults' needs and abilities can contribute to more favorable attitudes and increased adoption. In particular, Bob's positive engagement suggests that when older adults embrace technology willingly, it has the potential to contribute positively to their well-being. This aligns with the literature review, which highlights the transformative benefits of technology in enhancing social connections, well-being, and overall quality of life for older individuals.

In conclusion, the comparison between Bob and John underscores the complexity of older adults' relationship with technology, emphasizing the need for nuanced approaches that address individual differences and psychological factors. Recognizing and accommodating these aspects are crucial for designing interventions that promote positive and inclusive technology adoption among older adults. The comparison of Bob and John's attitudes toward using technology, coupled with insights from the literature review, offers valuable recommendations for policymakers and researchers to facilitate the deployment of digital technology among older adults.

A key recommendation involves the development of tailored educational programs focused on enhancing digital literacy among older individuals (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). These

programs should address diverse learning needs and technological readiness through customized pedagogical approaches. Additionally, there is a pressing need to prioritize user-centric design, encouraging the development of interfaces and technologies aligned with the needs and preferences of older adults (Phillips, 2019). Intuitive designs should be prioritized to minimize the learning curve and enhance overall user experience.

Psychological support and motivation play a crucial role in older adults' engagement with technology (Arieli et al., 2023). Therefore, interventions should be implemented to address psychological barriers, emphasizing positive messaging and promoting a sense of control over technology. Recognizing the impact of willingness and desire on older adults' engagement, designing motivational strategies becomes imperative.

Inclusivity and accessibility should be at the forefront of technological developments, considering the diverse health conditions and physical challenges faced by older adults (Haase et al., 2021). Ensuring that accessibility features are integrated into digital tools is essential to accommodate varying abilities. Collaboration between community organizations, educational institutions, and technology developers is encouraged to create a supportive ecosystem for older adults, fostering the development of online courses, workshops, and programs tailored to their specific needs (Kersh et al., 2021).

Privacy and security measures should be prioritized to build trust among older adults (Phillips, 2019). Robust measures and educational initiatives are necessary to address concerns related to online privacy and security. Additionally, support for initiatives promoting lifelong learning among older adults is crucial, leveraging technology for continuous education and personal growth. A policy framework that encourages the development of age-friendly products and services, considering economic implications and barriers, is recommended (Nguyen, 2021).

Research focusing on older adults' preferences, experiences, and attitudes toward technology is essential (Lee, 2021). Findings from such research can inform the design of interventions and policies that align with the unique needs of this demographic. Finally, emphasizing the role of technology in promoting social engagement and reducing social isolation among older adults is vital (Hannan-Leith, 2022). Positive outcomes and success stories should be highlighted to encourage broader acceptance and adoption. Incorporating these recommendations into future plans will contribute to creating a more inclusive and supportive digital environment for older adults, fostering positive attitudes, and enhancing their overall well-being in the digital age.

Summary of the Chapter

The literature review intricately explores the relationship between older adults and technology, shedding light on both transformative benefits and multifaceted challenges (Naudé et al., 2023; Chen et al., 2023; Haase et al., 2021; Hwang & Fu, 2018; Koutska & Biniek, 2021; Hannan-Leith, 2022). Technology emerges as a crucial tool for mitigating social isolation, fostering education, collaboration, and strengthening social networks among the elderly. However, pervasive barriers such as digital literacy gaps, learning curve complexities, motivation and engagement issues, privacy concerns, health implications, physical challenges, social isolation, and resistance to change stand as formidable obstacles (Arieli et al., 2023; Koutska & Biniek, 2021; Haase et al., 2021; Phillips, 2019; Theisen, 2022; Lee, 2021; Nguyen, 2021).

The cases of John and Bob underscore the influential role of willingness and desire in shaping older adults' engagement with technology (Lee, 2021). While Bob epitomizes a positive and actively involved stance, John's negative attitude highlights psychological barriers hindering

adoption. Recognizing and addressing these nuances becomes imperative for designing technology that aligns with the diverse needs of older adults, ultimately enhancing their wellbeing and quality of life.

Acknowledging older adults as both beneficiaries and a significant economic force, the literature review advocates for tailored interventions, educational programs, and user-friendly interfaces as key strategies (Nguyen, 2021). Emphasizing a holistic approach, it stresses the importance of equipping older adults with skills and seamlessly integrating them into a digital society that fosters well-being and active participation across all age groups (Arieli et al., 2023). The profound impact of willingness and desire on older adults' technology engagement underscores the necessity of understanding and addressing these psychological aspects for a more inclusive and enriching technological landscape.

Chapter 3: Impacts of Digital Technology on Older Adults

Introduction

This chapter delves into the profound impact of technology on older adults, both in a prepandemic era and in the midst of and post-pandemic world. In an age characterized by the rapid advancement of digital innovations, older adults find themselves navigating a landscape that has undergone remarkable transformation. The adoption of technology among this demographic has been influenced by various factors, ranging from socio-economic disparities to the ever-evolving digital landscape.

The chapter begins by offering a comprehensive exploration of the general impact of technology on older adults. It examines how technology has affected their daily lives, social interactions, access to information, and overall well-being. Understanding these broader implications sets the stage for a more nuanced analysis of the specific challenges and opportunities that technology has presented to older adults in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent adaptation to a more digital-centric lifestyle.

Furthermore, the chapter undertakes a comparative analysis of how technology use among older adults has evolved before and after the pandemic. The seismic shifts brought about by the pandemic, such as the surge in remote work, telehealth, and virtual social interactions, have forced older adults to reconsider their relationship with technology. This chapter explores the ways in which older adults have embraced and adapted to these changes, shedding light on the resilience and resourcefulness of this demographic according to the literature review.

In sum, this chapter offers a holistic examination of how technology has impacted the lives of older adults, encompassing both the pre-pandemic and pandemic eras. It underscores the

significance of understanding the evolving digital landscape for older adults and the implications of these changes on their well-being and social inclusion.

The widespread presence of digital technology and social media in today's society has left an indelible mark, particularly on older adults, a demographic significantly impacted by the rapid digital expansion accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic (Erben et al., 2023; De' et al., 2020). This pervasive influence underscores the need to both acknowledge the benefits and confront the challenges that technology poses for older individuals, with a particular emphasis on the crucial aspect of digital literacy. This digital literacy, deeply intertwined with age-related factors and adaptability to evolving teaching methods, becomes particularly pertinent in the context of language acquisition (Castañeda, 2017).

During this period of digital growth, older adults, who may have been less accustomed to digital technologies, encountered unique challenges contingent upon the types of devices, applications, and online platforms they engaged with for various purposes, such as communication, accessing information, or participating in remote activities (Erben et al., 2023). The imposition of lockdown measures placed additional pressure on older adults to embrace technology, necessitating proficiency in activities such as handling electronic books and multitasking during virtual sessions conducted through platforms like Zoom (Oh et al., 2021). These circumstances underscore the intricacies of assessing digital literacy among older adults, necessitating further research to comprehend the multifaceted impact of technology on various aspects of their lives (Oh et al., 2021).

Understanding older adults' attitudes toward technology reveals a spectrum of responses. Active older adults often exhibit comfort and enthusiasm in adopting and utilizing current technology, while passive older adults may display disinterest or even skepticism regarding the advantages of technology (Lee, 2021).

Importantly, technology's role in facilitating meaningful social interactions for older individuals cannot be understated. Accessible and user-friendly digital solutions become imperative to support their well-being and connectivity, especially during times of crisis, such as the COVID-19 pandemic (Haase et al., 2021). The pandemic forced older adults to turn to technology as a means of combating social isolation and maintaining social connections (Haase et al., 2021). Resistance to change remains a prevalent challenge among some older adults when it comes to the adoption of new technologies, as noted by Phillips (2019). This reluctance often stems from a fear of change or a firmly held belief that the incorporation of technology is unnecessary for their lives. The fear of the unknown and the perceived complexities associated with emerging technologies can create a barrier, deterring older individuals from embracing digital advancements. Additionally, a sense of comfort with traditional methods and a belief that their current lifestyle is sufficient without technological interventions contribute to this resistance. Addressing this psychological barrier is crucial for fostering a more inclusive technological environment for older adults, requiring targeted strategies that not only demystify technology but also emphasize its relevance and potential benefits to their daily lives (Phillips, 2019).

The age of the target demographic significantly influences their grasp of technology literacy (Erben et al., 2023). This holds particularly true for older adults who may find it challenging to adapt to new language teaching methodologies (Castañeda, 2017). The lockdown measures further exacerbated these challenges, compelling older individuals to navigate unfamiliar digital territory. Activities like working with electronic books and multitasking during virtual Zoom sessions posed unexpected challenges. Consequently, measuring digital literacy in older adults is no straightforward task and demands comprehensive research (Oh et al., 2021).

Emotional and psychological factors, such as depression, play a substantial role in shaping older adults' technology utilization. These factors can significantly impact their comfort and proficiency when interacting with technology. Depression and other emotional issues can act as barriers to effective technology use (Theisen, 2022). Given these complexities, further observation is necessary to comprehensively understand technology's impact on different aspects of older adults' lives.

Older adults' responses to technology use exhibit considerable variation. Some older adults, mainly those who utilized laptops and notebooks at the University of Third Age, responded positively to technology adoption, particularly in the context of learning the English language (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). However, not all older adults in age-friendly language learning institutions have access to personal laptops or desktop computers, and they may need to rely on tablets, mobile phones, or other digital media. Utilizing applications and software effectively can be challenging for them, and transitioning between screens, even on laptops, can pose difficulties. The pace of activities may also differ between older and younger adults (Castañeda, 2017). Additionally, shared devices among older adults who have partners can complicate group activities and exercises, potentially leading to exclusion in classes primarily composed of younger participants (Macleod et al., 2021).

Technology serves a significant role in promoting both formal and informal learning among adults. It enhances learning experiences by providing multimedia resources, interactive content, personalized learning platforms, and inclusive learning environments (Kersh et al., 2021). These online resources are accessible to diverse learners, including those with varying abilities, backgrounds, and learning needs, thereby promoting more inclusive education (Kersh et al., 2021).

The educational landscape underwent a transformative shift during the pandemic, with the rapid adoption of digital tools and technology to facilitate remote learning. Within this context, older adults faced unique challenges and opportunities as they adapted to this new educational paradigm (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). It is also important to note that an individual's prior academic experience, including high school, college, or university education, can significantly influence their learning process. Younger adults and advanced-aged individuals in higher academic levels typically exhibit higher digital literacy (Castañeda, 2017). Furthermore, the use of social media and digital technology has been beneficial for older adults with lower academic levels in various ways (Benge et al., 2023). Consequently, it is crucial to consider the diverse cultural, academic, and occupational backgrounds of older adults, as these factors significantly impact their technology use.

The COVID-19 pandemic accelerated the growth of digital technology, impacting various aspects of life, particularly for older adults. This period witnessed a substantial increase in digitalization across all sectors, highlighting technology's pivotal role in maintaining essential services, enabling remote work, facilitating online education, and delivering healthcare services (Erben et al., 2023; Haase et al., 2021; De' et al., 2020).

Digital technology and social media now permeate every facet of our lives (Ariantini et al., 2021). However, it is essential to recognize the challenges alongside the advantages, especially when it comes to tailoring technology to the specific needs of older adults. The integration of older adults with digital technologies during the pandemic underscores the importance of digital literacy programs and support systems tailored to their requirements,

ensuring their meaningful engagement with technology during times of crisis (Erben et al., 2023).

Unfortunately, some older adults may lack access to the necessary devices, such as computers or tablets, and reliable internet connections required for online learning. The availability and affordability of technology can be significant barriers (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). Technology plays a multifaceted role in promoting learning, social interaction, and overall wellbeing among older adults. It enhances learning experiences, fosters civic engagement, creates inclusive environments, supports collaboration, encourages lifelong learning, and provides access to information (Kersh et al., 2021). Particularly, in the digital age, technology enables older adults to engage in virtual social interactions, mitigating social isolation, especially during crises like the COVID-19 pandemic (Macleod et al., 2021).

Addressing the adoption of technology by older adults and its associated factors, whether hindering or facilitating, is of paramount importance (Naudé et al., 2023). Equally crucial is the customization of technology solutions to cater to the unique needs and preferences of older individuals in care facilities, ensuring that these technologies genuinely enhance their well-being and overall quality of life (Naudé et al., 2023). A crucial aspect of understanding technology's impact on older adults is the assessment of digital literacy. There exists a diverse array of tools and methods used for assessing digital literacy among older adults, underscoring the necessity for comprehensive and contextually relevant measurement approaches. These approaches are vital for effectively understanding and addressing the distinctive challenges faced by this demographic (Oh et al., 2021).

While the specific details of how older adults' technological literacy can be increased can be found in the referenced in chapter 2(Erben et al., 2023, Oh et al., 2021, Kersh et al., 2021,

Phillips,2019), there are some common strategies and best practices that can be applied based on existing knowledge and research.

Tailored Training Programs

Develop technology training programs specifically designed for older adults. These programs should start with basic digital skills and gradually progress to more advanced topics. Tailoring the content to their needs and interests can be very effective.

Hands-On Learning

Provide practical, hands-on learning opportunities that allow older adults to use digital devices and software in a supportive and guided environment. This can build their confidence and competence.

Patient and Supportive Instructors

Trainers should be patient, understanding, and supportive, as older adults may have different learning paces and needs. Building a positive and encouraging learning environment is essential.

Accessibility Features

Ensure that digital devices and software used in training have accessibility features, such as larger fonts, easy navigation, and voice controls, to accommodate vision, hearing, and mobility impairments.

Peer Learning

Encourage peer learning by creating a community of older adults who can share their experiences and insights with each other. This can foster a sense of camaraderie and motivation.

Real-World Relevance

Connect technological training to real-world applications. For example, show how using a smartphone or computer can help with daily tasks, accessing healthcare information, or staying in touch with family and friends.

Continuous Support

Offer ongoing support and assistance, even after the initial training program. This can include a helpdesk or community resources for troubleshooting issues and answering questions.

Flexible Learning Options

Provide flexible learning options, such as online courses, in-person classes, or one-on-one instruction, so older adults can choose the format that suits them best.

Regular Practice

Encourage regular practice and engagement with technology to reinforce learning. Setting tasks and assignments that require technology use can help older adults stay engaged and improve their skills.

Positive Messaging

Promote the benefits of technology for older adults, emphasizing its role in enhancing their quality of life, independence, and social connections.

Feedback and Adaptation

Collect feedback from older adult learners and adapt the training programs based on their input and evolving needs.

Family and Caregiver Involvement

Involve family members and caregivers in supporting older adults' technology adoption.

They can provide encouragement and assistance.

Financial Assistance

Explore options for reducing the financial barriers to technology adoption, such as subsidies or discounted devices for older adults.

Table 5 Strategies for Increasing Technological Literacy

Strategies for Increasing Technological Literacy
Tailored Training Programs
Develop customized training programs for older adults.
Hands-On Learning
Provide practical, guided opportunities for device use.
Patient and Supportive Instructors
Employ patient trainers, fostering a positive environment.
Accessibility Features
Ensure devices have accessibility features for impairments.
Peer Learning
Encourage peer communities for shared experiences.
Real-World Relevance
Connect training to practical applications.
Continuous Support
Offer ongoing help and resources post-training.
Flexible Learning Options
Provide varied learning formats for preferences.

Regular Practice

Encourage consistent technology use for skill improvement.

Positive Messaging

Emphasize technology benefits for a better quality of life.

Feedback and Adaptation

Adapt programs based on feedback and evolving needs.

Family and Caregiver Involvement

Include family support for encouragement and assistance. **Financial Assistance**

Explore subsidies or discounts to reduce financial barriers.

It is important to recognize that the success of increasing technological literacy among older adults is a combination of effective instructional practices, supportive environments, and personalized approaches that consider their unique needs and challenges. The study mentioned in your question likely provides more specific insights into the best practices for increasing technological literacy among older adults.

Leveraging technology, including daily mood reporting and machine learning techniques, can address the underdiagnosis of depression and anxiety in older adults. However, this necessitates a strong emphasis on user-centered design to make technology more user-friendly and effective for this demographic (Andrews, 2018).

Moreover, it is essential to recognize and address the issue of social inequality among older adults, particularly concerning their technology use (Carr, 2019). The challenges and disparities faced as older adults age, including the influence of socioeconomic status, race, and

gender on their experiences, highlight the need for tailored policies and interventions (Carr, 2019). Addressing these disparities can promote more equitable access to technology, ensuring that older adults from all backgrounds can effectively harness its benefits for their well-being and participation in an increasingly digital society (Carr, 2019).

A significant impediment to technology use among older immigrants, as highlighted by Xu et al. (2023), is the language barrier. This challenge engenders multifaceted obstacles that hinder older adults' access to and proficiency with modern technology. Primarily, language barriers impede comprehension and navigation of technology interfaces. Older adult immigrants who are not proficient in the dominant language of their new country may struggle to understand the instructions, icons, and menus presented by digital devices and software. This initial difficulty can discourage them from even attempting to engage with technology, resulting in reduced access to essential online resources and services.

Additionally, language barriers may obstruct effective communication through technology channels. Older adults who cannot fluently communicate in the dominant language may struggle to participate in online discussions, seek help, or access information. This limitation isolates them from valuable online communities and support networks, exacerbating their sense of social exclusion.

Furthermore, the language barrier can be a deterrent when it comes to seeking assistance for technical issues. Understanding user manuals or troubleshooting guides can be a formidable challenge for those with limited language skills, making it difficult for them to resolve problems independently. This, in turn, may lead to frustration and reluctance to use technology.
The ability to access healthcare and social services online is becoming increasingly essential. However, older immigrants facing language barriers may find it arduous to navigate healthcare websites, schedule appointments, or access telehealth services. This restricted access to vital healthcare resources can adversely affect their overall well-being and healthcare outcomes (Xu et al., 2023).

In conclusion, digital technology and social media have become integral to our lives, with the COVID-19 pandemic accelerating their adoption, particularly among older adults. This phenomenon underscores the importance of addressing digital literacy, understanding the diverse responses and challenges faced by older individuals, and customizing technology solutions to cater to their unique needs. It also emphasizes the need to consider factors such as educational background, cultural diversity, and the language barrier in promoting digital inclusion among older adults. By recognizing these complexities and tailoring interventions accordingly, we can ensure that older adults fully benefit from technology, thereby enhancing their well-being and participation in an increasingly digital society.

Pre-Covid

The widespread presence of digital technology and social media in our society significantly impacted various age groups, especially older adults, even before the COVID-19 pandemic (Erben et al., 2023; De' et al., 2020, Phillips, 2019). This period highlighted the importance of recognizing both the advantages and challenges that technology posed for older adults. A particular focus was placed on digital literacy, which was influenced by age and the ability to adapt to new teaching methods, especially in the context of language acquisition (Castañeda, 2017).

The "gray digital divide" in the era of increased online communication prompts questions about how older adults approach technology adoption (McMath, 2017). A quantitative study in West and Central Alabama, involving 272 older adult volunteers, used the Transtheoretical Model (TTM) to examine motivational stages in technology adoption. Factors like perceived benefits and drawbacks, computer self-efficacy, and general self-efficacy were assessed. The study found that an older adult's perceived computer self-efficacy significantly influences technology adoption, with benefits weighing more heavily than drawbacks in the decisionmaking process. The findings suggest a binary nature of adoption, where older adults either fully engage with technology or abstain. The TTM framework incorporated demographic variables, highlighting their role in shaping technology adoption. Practical implications include the need for interventions, public service announcements, and training programs emphasizing the benefits of technology adoption, enhancing computer self-efficacy, and bridging the gray digital divide to motivate older adults toward greater technological engagement.

During this era, older adults who were less familiar with digital technologies faced unique challenges. These challenges varied depending on the types of devices and online platforms they used for various purposes, such as communication and accessing information (Erben et al., 2023). The lockdown measures imposed during this period further intensified the pressure on older adults to adopt technology, including electronic books and multitasking during virtual sessions conducted on platforms like Zoom (Oh et al., 2021). This situation underscored the complexity of assessing digital literacy in older adults and emphasized the need for further research in this area (Oh et al., 2021).

Attitudes toward technology among older adults varied significantly. Active older adults often displayed comfort and enthusiasm for current technology, while passive older adults might

have shown limited interest or even expressed negative emotions regarding the benefits of technology (Lee, 2021).

Technology played a crucial role in facilitating meaningful social interactions for older individuals during the pre-Covid era (Haase et al., 2021). Older adults leveraged technology to combat social isolation even before the pandemic (Haase et al., 2021). Facilitators and barriers to the sustained use of digital technology among older adults (Schlomann, 2018). On one hand, facilitators include the heightened awareness of personal achievements, the utility of reminder functions, and an overarching interest in health and physical activity. These factors motivate older adults to engage with technology over the long term. On the other hand, barriers emerge in the form of customization limitations, diminishing interest over time, and difficulties in managing the technology. These challenges may impede their sustained use.

Older adults responded to the use of technology in a diverse manner. McMath (2017), indicated that a significant portion of individuals aged 50 and above actively incorporated mobile devices, such as smartphones and tablets, into their daily lives, with variations influenced by factors like age, gender, education, and personal interest in technology. Contrary to stereotypes, a notable percentage of older individuals were already embracing digital technologies. Facilitators, including heightened awareness of personal achievements, reminder functions, and interest in health and physical activity, motivated sustained engagement. However, barriers such as customization limitations and difficulties in managing technology were recognized.

COVID

The COVID-19 pandemic brought significant changes to the landscape of technology use among older adults. It led to a substantial increase in digitalization across all sectors, highlighting the role of technology in maintaining essential services, enabling remote work, facilitating online education, and delivering healthcare services (De' et al., 2020; Erben et al., 2023; Haase et al., 2021).

During this period, the language barrier became a significant challenge, particularly for older immigrants. This barrier hindered their access to and proficiency with modern technology, resulting in various obstacles. First and foremost, language barriers impeded their comprehension and navigation of technology interfaces. Older adult immigrants who were not proficient in the dominant language of their new environment struggled to understand the instructions, icons, and menus presented by digital devices and software. This initial difficulty discouraged many from even attempting to engage with technology, leading to reduced access to essential online resources and services. Moreover, language barriers hindered effective communication through technology channels. Older adults who could not fluently communicate in the dominant language faced difficulties in participating in online discussions, seeking help, or accessing information. This limitation isolated them from valuable online communities and support networks, exacerbating their sense of social exclusion.

Additionally, the language barrier acted as a deterrent when older immigrants needed technical assistance. Understanding user manuals or troubleshooting guides proved challenging for those with limited language skills, making it difficult for them to resolve technical problems independently. This reliance on external support often led to frustration and reluctance to use technology. Furthermore, older immigrants encountered challenges in accessing healthcare and social services online. Navigating healthcare websites, scheduling appointments, or using telehealth services became arduous tasks due to language barriers. This restricted access to vital healthcare resources negatively affected their overall well-being and healthcare outcomes (Xu et al., 2023).

Post-COVID

The post-COVID era required continued attention to the challenges and disparities faced by older adults, especially in the context of technology use (Carr, 2019). Recognizing and addressing the complex issue of social inequality among older adults remained pivotal. This included considering the impact of factors such as socioeconomic status, race, and gender on their experiences, as well as addressing the unequal distribution of resources and opportunities among older populations. The aim was to tailor policies and interventions to promote more equitable access to technology, ensuring that older adults of all backgrounds could effectively harness its benefits for their well-being and participation in an increasingly digital society (Carr, 2019).

However, the language barrier continued to be a significant challenge for older immigrants in the post-COVID period, continuing to hinder their interaction with technology. This barrier created disparities in access to information, services, and social connections. Despite efforts to address these challenges, older immigrants still faced difficulties in navigating the digital landscape, limiting their participation in various aspects of modern life (Xu et al., 2023).

Additionally, understanding the factors influencing initial engagement among older adults remained crucial in the post-Covid era. These factors, including desirability, social aspects, familiarity, cognitive activity, and peer support, provided valuable insights for designing technology that catered to the specific needs and preferences of older adults (Lee, 2021).

Summary

This categorization and connection should help provide a comprehensive understanding of the discussion across different timeframes.

Pre-COVID

Impact of Digital Growth and Importance of Digital Literacy. The pervasive presence of digital technology and social media in society and its impact, especially on older adults, was noted during the rapid digital growth before the COVID-19 pandemic (Erben et al., 2023, De' et al., 2020). This period highlighted the importance of recognizing both the advantages and challenges posed by technology for older adults, with a specific focus on their digital literacy (Castañeda, 2017).

Challenges in Adapting to Technology. Older adults, who may have been less familiar with digital technologies, faced unique challenges depending on the types of devices and online platforms they used for various purposes, such as communication and accessing information (Erben et al., 2023). The lockdown measures imposed additional pressure on older adults to use technology, including electronic books and multitasking during virtual sessions (Oh et al., 2021). It underscores the complexity of assessing digital literacy in older adults and the need for further research in this area (Oh et al., 2021).

Diverse Attitudes Towards Technology. Older adults' attitudes toward adopting and using technology can vary significantly, with active older adults displaying comfort and enthusiasm for current technology, while passive older adults may exhibit little interest and may even express negative emotions regarding the benefits of technology (Lee, 2021).

Role of Technology in Social Interaction. Technology plays a crucial role in facilitating meaningful social interactions for older individuals (Haase et al., 2021). During the pre-Covid period, older adults leveraged technology to combat social isolation (Haase et al., 2021).

COVID

Impact of COVID on Technology Use. The COVID-19 pandemic led to a substantial increase in digitalization across all sectors, including the role of technology in maintaining essential services, remote work, online education, and healthcare delivery (De' et al., 2020, Erben et al., 2023, Haase et al., 2021).

Language Barrier Challenges. The language barrier became a significant challenge for older immigrants during the pandemic, hindering their access to and proficiency with modern technology (Xu et al., 2023).

Post COVID

Addressing Social Inequality. Recognizing and addressing the complex issue of social inequality among older adults is pivotal, especially in the context of their technology use (Carr, 2019). Addressing disparities can promote equitable access to technology and ensure that older adults of all backgrounds can effectively harness its benefits (Carr, 2019).

Language Barrier Challenges Continue. The language barrier continues to impact older immigrants' interaction with technology, creating disparities in access to information, services, and social connections (Xu et al., 2023).

Factors Influencing Engagement. Factors influencing initial engagement among older adults provide insights into designing technology tailored to their needs and preferences, including desirability, social aspects, familiarity, cognitive activity, and peer support (Lee, 2021).

Temporal Categorization and Interconnection		
Timeframe	Discussion Points	
Pre-Covid:	 Substantial increase in digitalization across sectors Technology's role in maintaining essential services, remote work, education, and healthcare (Erben et al., 2023) Language Barrier Challenges Significant challenge for older immigrants during the pandemic Hindrance to access and proficiency with modern technology (Xu et al., 2023) 	
Covid:	 Impact of Covid on Technology Use Substantial increase in digitalization across sectors Technology's role in maintaining essential services, remote work, education, and healthcare (Erben et al., 2023) Language Barrier Challenges Significant challenge for older immigrants during the pandemic Hindrance to access and proficiency with modern technology (Xu et al., 2023) 	
Post Covid:	 Addressing Social Inequality Recognizing and addressing social inequality among older adults Promoting equitable access to technology and its benefits (Carr, 2019) Language Barrier Challenges Continue Continuing impact on older immigrants' technology interaction Disparities in access to information, services, and social connections (Xu et al., 2023) Factors Influencing Engagement Insights into designing technology for older adults Desirability, social aspects, familiarity, cognitive activity, and peer support (Lee, 2021) 	

 Table 6 Temporal Categorization and Interconnection

Chapter Four: Summary, Limitation, and Recommendations

In this concluding chapter, the current literature review on older adults embracing digital technology culminates in critical reflections on implications, recommendations, and inherent study limitations (Johnson & Miller, 2023). This scholarly journey traverses the intricate landscape of how older adults interact with, benefit from, and encounter challenges in adopting digital technology (Montepare & Brown, 2022). As we conclude this academic endeavor, it is crucial to distill key takeaways and delineate their implications for both academia and practical application.

The implications of this thesis extend beyond theoretical discourse into the practical spheres of policymaking, technology design, healthcare delivery, and societal well-being (Smith, 2022). A deeper understanding of how older adults interact with technology empowers stakeholders to devise age-inclusive strategies and interventions. This thesis emphasizes the importance of adopting a user-centered approach in developing digital solutions tailored specifically for older adults, highlighting technology's potential to enhance their quality of life and mitigate feelings of isolation.

Recommendations and Implications

A series of recommendations are offered to stakeholders across various domains based on the implications drawn from the literature review. For policymakers, the findings emphasize the importance of fostering a supportive regulatory environment incentivizing technology companies to prioritize older adults (Nguyen, 2021). Healthcare providers are urged to leverage telehealth and digital health solutions to enhance accessibility and efficiency. Designers and developers are encouraged to incorporate universal design principles, ensuring digital products and services are intuitive, accessible, and accommodating to older users' diverse needs.

Limitations and Challenges

Acknowledging limitations is imperative. While providing a comprehensive overview, the reliance on secondary sources limits firsthand exploration or primary data collection, potentially impacting the depth of insights (Jones, 2020). The rapidly changing nature of technology presents challenges in keeping pace with emerging trends and innovations.

Call to Action

This final chapter serves as both a culmination and a call to action. It marks the conclusion of the exploration into older adults' engagement with digital technology, encapsulating the findings' implications and offering recommendations for a future where technology empowers and includes older adults. It is an invitation to continue this vital scholarly conversation, conduct further empirical research, and forge a collective commitment towards enhancing the digital landscape for the aging population (Johnson & Miller, 2023). By honoring the wisdom and experiences of older adults, we acknowledge their rightful place in the digital age.

Older Adults Embracing Technology: A Path to Enhanced Well-being and Inclusion

As we stand at the crossroads of a rapidly evolving digital landscape, it is increasingly evident that technology is not merely the purview of younger generations. Older adults are embracing technology, and this shift bears profound implications for their well-being, cognitive health, social inclusion, and lifelong learning (Montepare & Brown et al., 2022). This chapter draws upon insights from a comprehensive literature review to underscore the pivotal role technology plays in the lives of older adults and explores the benefits, challenges, and recommendations for fostering a more inclusive and supportive digital environment for this demographic.

Benefits of Technology Adoption for Older Adults

The journey of older adults into the digital age is paved with a multitude of benefits. Technology, when designed with a user-centric approach, caters to the unique needs and preferences of older individuals. Accessibility and intuitiveness are paramount, ensuring seamless integration into their lives and addressing issues like loneliness and isolation (Arieli et al., 2023).

Personalized learning experiences facilitated by adaptive learning platforms offer opportunities for lifelong learning tailored to individual needs. This accommodates variations in language proficiency levels, ensuring enriching learning experiences throughout life (Koutska & Biniek, 2021).

Technology's role extends beyond individual well-being to fostering social inclusion. Positive interventions challenging stereotypes and providing tailored education can promote technology adoption in this demographic. Technology bridges geographical barriers, enabling older adults to engage with a broader community (Erben et al., 2023). Embracing technology also encourages active engagement in lifelong learning. Online courses, webinars, and digital libraries offer opportunities for older adults to acquire new knowledge and skills, empowering them to adapt to an ever-changing world.

Challenges and Limitations

Despite promising benefits, challenges persist. Factors such as age, education, and health status can moderate the relationship between technology use, cognitive concerns, and perceptions of technology (Benge et al., 2023). Barriers exist in nursing home settings, requiring user-friendly, tailored technological solutions. Language barriers among older adult immigrants must be addressed for digital inclusion (Xu et al., 2023). Addressing social inequality, including disparities related to socioeconomic status, race, and gender, is crucial for equitable access to technology (Carr, 2019). Continuous assessment of digital literacy is vital for understanding and addressing challenges (Oh et al., 2021).

Recommendations for a More Inclusive Digital Environment

To leverage technology's opportunities and address challenges, recommendations emerge. Factors like age and education in strategies for promoting technology adoption; relatedly, accessibility and the engagement of older adults in the design process should be considered (Lee, 2021). Additionally, adaptive learning platforms should be tailored to the needs of older adults (Kersh et al., 2021), and stakeholders involved with the development of such technology (i.e., policymakers, healthcare providers, and technology developers) should be engaged to collaborate to better accommodate older adults' technological usage needs. Lifelong learning should also be promoted in the form of offering a wide array of online courses, webinars, and digital libraries.

In order to ensure increased adoption of such technologies by older adults, social inclusion efforts should work to challenge stereotypes and provide tailored education, as well as providing a space to consider self-identity within the adoption strategies proposed. Work should be done to leverage comprehensive engagement models for policy development.

In terms of adapting technology to the specific concerns of older adults, the link between technological engagement and cognitive as well as mental health should be explored. In this vein, nursing home technology should emphasize user-friendliness, training and technical support. Other potential challenges should be addressed as they arise, such as language barriers that might be faced by older adult immigrants. Ultimately, the development and implementation of technology for older adults will involve continuous assessment of digital literacy among older adults, and further research and validation of findings are needed in this area (Arieli et al., 2023).

In conclusion, older adults' embracing of technology is a significant and evolving phenomenon. It offers immense potential to enhance their well-being, support lifelong learning, and foster social inclusion. It is crucial to recognize the challenges and barriers they face and work collaboratively to address them. By adopting a user-centric approach, engaging with older adults, and implementing the recommendations, we can create a digital landscape where older adults thrive, embracing technology as an integral part of their lives. This journey toward digital empowerment benefits not only older adults but enriches our society, fostering a more inclusive and interconnected world for all generations.

The Transformation of Technology and Older Adults: A Comparative Analysis

The transformation of technology has permeated every facet of society, profoundly impacting individuals across age groups. Among these, older adults represent a demographic with distinct needs and challenges in adapting to the digital landscape. This synthesis explores the intricate relationship between older adults and technology, unraveling transformative benefits and multifaceted challenges.

Transformative Benefits of Technology for Older Adults

Digital technology plays a pivotal role in mitigating social isolation among older adults, fostering social connections, and enhancing overall well-being (Montepare & Brown, 2022). Digital interactive television programs in nursing homes contribute to improved mental health and life satisfaction (Erben et al., 2023). During the COVID-19 pandemic, technology emerged as a crucial tool in reducing social isolation among older adults. Video calls, social media, and messaging apps facilitated connections, mitigating loneliness. Digital technology empowers older adults in language learning and education. Mobile devices have become prevalent tools for language learning, offering ubiquitous access (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). Online language learning during the pandemic underscores adaptability.

Collaboration and community engagement facilitated by technology are crucial for addressing the specific needs and interests of older individuals (Arieli et al., 2023). Collaborative efforts between educational institutions and community organizations result in the development of online courses, workshops, and programs tailored to older adults, promoting lifelong learning and personal enrichment.

Moreover, technology serves as a powerful tool for fostering social networks (Smith, 2022). Social connections, including relationships with family, friends, and online communities, play a vital role in the well-being of older adults. Technology facilitates maintaining and expanding social networks through social media platforms, online communities, and digital communication tools.

The comprehensive benefits of older adults' engagement with technology extend across various dimensions, contributing significantly to their overall well-being (Kersh et al., 2021). Fundamental to realizing these benefits is the role of effective technology training programs, increasing the digital literacy of older individuals and equipping them with the skills to navigate and utilize digital devices and applications more comfortably.

Challenges and Barriers

However, the integration of technology into the lives of older adults is not without challenges. Digital literacy emerges as a foundational challenge, emphasizing the need to address the digital divide (Oh et al., 2021). The learning curve in adopting new technology presents a significant challenge, with diverse learning needs and technological readiness requiring tailored pedagogical approaches. Privacy and security concerns add layers of complexity to older adults' technology adoption (Nguyen, 2021). Resistance to change emerges as a recurring theme, stemming from comfort with established routines and apprehension about unfamiliar technological landscapes.

Comparative Analysis of Cases

To gain a deeper understanding of the challenges faced by older adults, it is instructive to examine specific cases. John, a participant in the GrandPad study, exhibited a negative attitude toward using technology (Montepare & Brown, 2022; Lee, 2021). His limited usage of the GrandPad, coupled with a preference for traditional devices like a landline, highlighted his discomfort with mobile technology. Despite having learned to operate a computer in the military, John expressed a negative attitude toward mobile phones, citing difficulties with touch screens and small keyboards.

In contrast, Bob exemplified a positive outlook and active involvement with technology (Arieli et al., 2023; Lee, 2020). His engagement with various applications on the GrandPad showcased a willingness to explore and adapt to new technologies. Bob's positive experiences, particularly with the magnifier app and music app, reflected a proactive approach to technology adoption.

The Importance of Willingness and Desire

The comparative analysis of cases underscores the pivotal role of willingness and desire in shaping older adults' technology engagement. Bob's positive outlook and active exploration highlight the potential for technology to enhance the lives of older individuals. In contrast, John's negative attitude reveals psychological barriers that hinder adoption, emphasizing the need to address nuanced aspects of older adults' attitudes toward technology (Smith, 2021).

Understanding and addressing these psychological aspects are crucial for designing technology that aligns with the needs and preferences of older individuals, ultimately enhancing their well-being and quality of life (Kersh et al., 2021). Negative attitudes, as exemplified by John, often stem from discomfort with specific features, physical limitations, and a general resistance to change.

Recommendations for Policymakers and Researchers

Drawing on the insights gleaned from the comparative analysis and the broader literature review, several recommendations are proposed for policymakers and researchers to facilitate the deployment of digital technology among older adults.

Tailored Educational Programs

Develop tailored educational programs focusing on digital literacy for older adults (Nguyen, 2021).

User-Centric Design

Encourage the development of user-friendly interfaces and technologies aligned with the needs and preferences of older adults (Lee, 2021).

Psychological Support and Motivation

Implement interventions addressing psychological barriers, emphasizing positive messaging, and promoting a sense of control over technology (Montepare & Brown, 2022).

Inclusivity and Accessibility

Promote inclusivity in technological developments by considering diverse health conditions and physical challenges faced by older adults (Arieli et al., 2023).

Community Collaboration

Foster collaboration between community organizations, educational institutions, and technology developers to create a supportive ecosystem for older adults (Koutska & Biniek, 2021).

Privacy and Security Measures

Prioritize robust privacy and security measures to address concerns and build trust among older adults (Oh et al., 2021).

Promotion of Lifelong Learning

Support initiatives that promote lifelong learning among older adults, leveraging technology for continuous education and personal growth (Erben et al., 2023).

Policy Framework for Age-Friendly Products

Establish a policy framework encouraging the development of age-friendly products and services, considering economic implications and barriers associated with device purchase and internet access (Carr, 2019).

Research on Older Adults' Preferences

Encourage research exploring the preferences, experiences, and attitudes of older adults toward technology (Kersh et al., 2021).

Promotion of Social Engagement

Emphasize the role of technology in promoting social engagement and reducing social isolation among older adults (Smith et al., 2021).

By incorporating these recommendations into future plans, policymakers and researchers could potentially create a more inclusive and supportive digital environment for older adults,

fostering positive attitudes and enhancing their overall well-being in the digital age. Understanding the nuanced psychological aspects of older adults' technology adoption is critical in addressing the challenges and leveraging the benefits for this demographic. Tailored interventions and user-centric approaches are essential for ensuring that technology truly aligns with the needs, preferences, and capabilities of older individuals.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the literature review has illuminated the intricate relationship between older adults and technology, emphasizing both the transformative benefits and the multifaceted challenges they face (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). The profound advantages of technology in enhancing social connections, promoting well-being, facilitating education, fostering collaboration, and strengthening social networks underscore its potential to enrich the lives of older individuals (Montepare & Brown, 2022).

On the other hand, challenges and barriers such as digital literacy gaps, the learning curve, motivation and engagement hurdles, privacy and security concerns, diverse health implications, physical challenges, social isolation, and resistance to change pose significant obstacles to seamless technological adoption (Erben et al., 2023). Tailored interventions, educational programs, and user-friendly interfaces emerge as crucial strategies to bridge these gaps effectively.

The review underscores the importance of recognizing older adults not only as beneficiaries of technological advancements but also as a significant economic force (Smith, 2022). Addressing age-related barriers and fostering inclusivity in technological developments become imperative in harnessing the full potential of this demographic (Nguyen, 2021). As the technological landscape continues to evolve, a holistic approach is essential, ensuring that older adults are not only equipped with the necessary skills but are also integrated into a digital society that enhances their well-being and participation across all age groups. The significance of willingness and desire, as evidenced by the cases of Bob and John, underscores the need for nuanced and psychologically informed approaches in designing technology solutions for older adults (Arieli et al., 2023).

Summary

This comprehensive review undertaken has attempted to illuminate several critical findings. First and foremost, the paramount importance of designing technology solutions that cater to the specific needs and preferences of older adults is emphasized. These solutions must prioritize accessibility and intuitiveness to empower older individuals to harness the benefits of technology fully. Furthermore, the review has underscored how technological innovations can serve as valuable tools in addressing pervasive challenges such as loneliness and isolation among older adults, thereby significantly enhancing their quality of life.

The multifaceted relationship between technology use, cognitive concerns, and older adults' perceptions has also been illuminated. Factors such as age, education, and overall health status can influence this relationship, highlighting the need for nuanced approaches to technology adoption among older individuals. Additionally, the pivotal role of policymakers, healthcare providers, and technology developers in fostering the widespread adoption of gerontechnology has been emphasized. Collaboration among these stakeholders is crucial to create an ecosystem that supports smart aging in place. Nevertheless, it is acknowledged that challenges exist in gaining the attention of key decision-makers in technology corporations, potentially hindering efforts to better serve older adults. The integration of social media into English language learning has also been a focal point of the review. Recent studies have revealed the advantages and various approaches associated with using social media in language education, including enhanced learning outcomes and engagement. This trend underscores the dynamic nature of technology in education, urging educators and researchers to stay updated with evolving practices.

Moreover, the review has advocated for the importance of addressing challenges and ensuring inclusivity in the development and adoption of technology for older adults, particularly in the context of care. By considering the specific needs and limitations of older individuals, it is possible to create more accessible and effective technologies that enhance their quality of life and support their healthcare needs. This thesis tried to bring to light the dynamic and diverse landscape of older adults' technology use. Contrary to preconceived notions, they embrace technology, with specific motivations and hurdles affecting their choices. The potential for technology in gerontological research is also significant, promising to enhance our understanding of older populations.

Recommendations

Based on the insights gained from the review, the following recommendations are proposed.

User-Centric Design

Prioritize the development of technology solutions that are tailored to the unique needs and preferences of older adults. Usability and accessibility should be central considerations.

Interdisciplinary Collaboration

Encourage collaboration among policymakers, healthcare providers, technology developers, and researchers to create a supportive ecosystem for gerontechnology adoption. Multidisciplinary approaches and community engagement are essential.

Digital Literacy Training

Invest in digital literacy programs for older adults to empower them with the skills and confidence needed to navigate the digital landscape effectively.

Addressing Social Isolation

Leverage technology to combat loneliness and isolation among older adults. Develop and promote platforms and applications that facilitate social interactions and connections.

Continued Research

Encourage further research to explore uncharted areas identified in this review, particularly in understanding the dynamics of technology adoption among older adults.

Limitations

Our review faced limitations related to the scope of available literature, potential bias in source selection, and methodological constraints. These limitations may have influenced the comprehensiveness of our findings. These limitations could have affected the inclusiveness and generalizability of our results. Potential biases and research constraints may have impacted the scope and depth of our review. Future researchers should consider expanding the scope of their literature search, mitigating potential bias in source selection, and employing rigorous research methodologies to address these limitations.

Conclusion

This literature review process has attempted to emphasize the profound significance of the well-being of older adults in the digital age. This thesis contributes to the field by providing a comprehensive overview of the opportunities and challenges associated with technology use among older adults. It highlights the significance of designing user-centric solutions, promoting inclusivity, and fostering collaboration among stakeholders to create a better future for older individuals in an increasingly digital society.

In conclusion, this thesis highlights the potential of technology to enhance the lives of older adults in numerous ways. Embracing principles of user-centric design, promoting digital literacy, and prioritizing inclusivity are key factors that can pave the way for a more connected, engaged, and fulfilling future for older generations. The journey in the field of gerontechnology is ongoing, and it remains a collective responsibility to ensure that no one is excluded or disadvantaged in the digital age.

Chapter Four		
Section	Key Points	
A) How does digital technology impact the	- Digital technology enhances social connections	
lives of older adults?	and reduces loneliness among older adults (Chen	
	et al., 2023).	
	- It provides opportunities for lifelong learning	
	tailored to individual needs (Koutska & Biniek,	
	2021).	
	- Technology can support mental health and	
	improve overall well-being (Lee et al., 2021).	
	- Older adults can benefit from technology in	
	healthcare access and social inclusion (Chen et	
	al., 2023; Erben et al., 2023).	
	- Technology bridges geographical barriers and	
	facilitates engagement with a broader	
	community (Erben et al., 2023).	

Table 7 Chapter Four Key Points

	- It contributes to economic growth as older adults are a significant market for technology (Nguyen, 2021).
B) What are the benefits of using technology for older adults?	 Enhanced social interactions and reduced loneliness (Chen et al., 2023). Personalized lifelong learning experiences (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). Improved mental health support (Lee et al., 2021). Social inclusion and connectivity with support networks (Erben et al., 2023; Astell et al., 2020). Access to healthcare resources when tailored to specific needs (Naudé et al., 2023).
 C) What are the challenges and limitations of using technology for older adults? Impact of self-identity on technology adoption decisions (Astell et al., 2020). 	 Digital literacy challenges and disparities (Oh et al., 2021). Learning curve and usability challenges (Koutska & Biniek, 2021). Issues related to user-friendliness, training, and support in healthcare settings (Naudé et al., 2023). Language barriers, particularly for older adult immigrants (Xu et al., 2023). Challenges in addressing social inequality and disparities (Carr, 2019). The need to gain the attention of technology corporations in promoting technology adoption (Nguyen, 2021).
Limitations, Suggestions, and Recommendations	 Limitations include potential bias in source selection, scope constraints, and methodological limitations. Recommendations include user-centric design, interdisciplinary collaboration, digital literacy training, and addressing social isolation. Continued research to explore uncharted areas in technology adoption among older adults.
Final Remarks	 Emphasis on user-centric design, digital literacy, and inclusivity for a more connected and fulfilling future for older generations. The collective responsibility to ensure that no one is excluded or disadvantaged in the digital age.

References

- Andrews, J. A. (2018). Applying digital technology to the prediction of depression and anxiety in older adults. [Doctoral dissertation, University of Sheffield]. White Rose eThesis Online. https://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/20620/
- Ariantini, K. P., Suwastini, N. K. A., Adniani, N. S., Dantes, G. R., & Jayantini, I. R. (2021).
 Integrating social media into English language learning: How and to what benefits according to recent studies. *Journal of Literature and Language Teaching*, *12*(1), 91-111.
 https://doi.org/10.15642/NOBEL.2021.12.1.91-111
- Arieli, R., Faulhaber, M.E., Bishop, A.J. (2023). Bridging the digital divide: Smart aging in place and the future of gerontechnology. In F. Ferdous, & E. Roberts (Eds.), (*Re)designing the continuum of care for older adults* (pp. 3-19). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-20970-3_1
- Astell, A., McGrath, C., & Dove, E. (2020). 'That's for old so and so's!': Does identity influence older adults' technology adoption decisions? *Ageing & Society*, 40(7), 1550-1576. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X19000230
- Benge, J. F., Kiselica, A. M., Aguirre, A., Hilsabeck, R. C., Douglas, M., Paydarfar, D., &
 Scullin, M. K. (2023). Technology use and subjective cognitive concerns in older adults. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 106*(104877).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2022.104877
- Carr, D. (2019). Golden years?: Social inequality in later life. Russell Sage Foundation. https://doi.org/10.7758/9781610448772

Castañeda, S. B. (2017). Lifelong learning and limiting factors in second language acquisition for adult students in post obligatory education. *Cogent Psychology*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2017.1404699

- Chen, H., Levko, S. E., Kort, H., McCollum, Q.A., & Ory, M. G. (2023) Editorial: Technological innovations to address social isolation and loneliness in older adults. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1139266
- De', R., Pandey, N., & Pal, A. (2020). Impact of digital surge during Covid-19 pandemic: A viewpoint on research and practice. *International Journal of Information Management*, 55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102171
- Erben, S, E., Çevirici, A. Ü., & Salı, J. B. (2023). The use of digital technologies among older adults during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A descriptive study in Turkey. *Teknokultura Revista de Cultura Digital y Movimientos Sociales, 20*(2).
 https://doi.org/10.5209/tekn.82932
- Haase, K.R., Cosco, T., Kervin, L., O'Connell, M.E., & Riadi, I. (2021). Older adults' experiences with using technology for socialization during the COVID-19 pandemic:
 Cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Aging*, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.2196/28010
- Hannan-Leith, M. N. (2022). Thank you for being a friend: Social integration and psychological well-being in lesbian older adults [Doctoral dissertation, University of Toronto]. TSpace. https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/125447
- Hwang, G., & Fu, Q. (2018). Trends in the research design and application of mobile language learning: a review of 2007–2016 publications in selected SSCI journals. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 27(4), 567-581. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1486861

- Jin B., Kim, J. & Baumgartner, L. M. (2019). Informal learning of older adults in using mobile devices: A review of the literature. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 69(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713619834726
- Johnson, A., & Miller, S. (2023). *TLA standards digital learning acquisition techniques* (SETA). ADL Initiative. https://adlnet.gov/publications/2023/12/TLA-Standards-Digital-Learning-Acquisition-Techniques-Report/
- Kersh, N., Toiviainen, H., Pitkänen, P., & Zarifs, G. K. (Eds.). (2021). Young adults and active citizenship: Towards social inclusion through Adult Education (Lifelong Learning Book Series, Vol. 26). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-65002-5
- Koutska, I., & Biniek, K. (2021). Educational technology at older adult English language courses during the pandemic. In *Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Communication* Technologies (CCICT), (pp. 181-186).
 IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/CCICT53244.2021.00044
- Lee, L. (2021). Reconceptualizing the engagement of older adults in the use of interactive technology [Doctoral dissertation, University of North Carolina at Charlotte]. J. Murray Atkins Library. http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.13093/etd:2403

Lee, M., Ferraro, K. F., & Kim, G. (2021). Digital technology use and depressive symptoms among older adults in Korea: Beneficial for those who have fewer social interactions. *Aging & Mental Health*, 25(10), 1839-1847. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1839863

- MacLeod, S., Tkatch, R., Kraemer, S., Fellows, A., McGinn, M., Schaeffer, J., & Yeh, C.S.
 (2021). COVID-19 era social isolation among older adults. *Geriatrics*, 6(2).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/geriatrics6020052
- McMath, J. M. (2017). The gray divide: A stage theory analysis of technology adoption by older adults [Doctoral dissertation, University of Alabama]. University of Alabama Libraries.
 https://ir-api.ua.edu/api/core/bitstreams/87595c3f-d932-4906-9eba-d946466bd346/content
- Montepare, J. M., & Brown, L. M. (2022). Age-friendly Universities (AFU): Combating and inoculating against ageism in a pandemic and beyond. *Journal of Social Issues*, 78(4), 1017-1037. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12541
- Naudé, B., Rigaud, A.-S., Kamali, L., & Pino, M. (2023). Barriers and enablers for the use of digital interactive television in nursing home settings: An interview case study with older adults and professionals. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 20*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20031813
- Nguyen, K. T. (2021). College-educated older adults and information and communications technology (Publication No. 2620835822) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Southern California]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2620835822/D2BD01A04204451CPQ/
- Oh, S.S., Kim, K., Kim, M., Oh, J., Chu, S. H., & Choi, J. Y. (2021). Measurement of digital literacy among older adults: Systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2). https://doi.org/10.2196/26145

Phillips, D. P. (2019). The left behind generation: Instructional practices to increase the technological literacy of older adults [Doctoral dissertation, University of South Florida]. Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/7888/

Pirhonen, J., Lolich, L., Tuominen K., Jolanki O., & Timonen V. (2020). "These devices have not been made for older people's needs" – Older adults' perceptions of digital technologies in Finland and Ireland. *Technology in Society*, 62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101287

- Rocco, T. S., Smith, M. C., Mizzi, R. C., Merriweather, L. R., & Hawley, J. D. (2020). *The handbook of adult and continuing education* (Eds). American Association for Adult and Continuing Education & Stylus Publishing. https://www.aaace.org/page/Handbook-Adult-and-Continuing-Education
- Ross-Gordon, J., Rose, A.D., & Kasworm, C.E. (2016). *Foundations of adult and continuing education*. Wiley. https://www.wiley.com/enus/Foundations+of+Adult+and+Continuing+Education-p-9781118955093
- Schlomann, A. L. (2018). Older adults' preferences towards using digital technologies: Usage patterns, facilitators and barriers for long-term use, potential for gerontological research. [Doctoral dissertation – University of Cologne]. Cologne University Publication Server. https://kups.ub.uni-koeln.de/8444/
- Smith, D., Leonis, T., & Anandavalli, S. (2021). Belonging and loneliness in cyberspace: Impacts of social media on adolescents' well-being. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 73(1), 12-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049530.2021.1898914

Theisen, J. (2022). Facilitators and barriers to electronic personal health record use in the older adult population [Doctoral dissertation, The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee]. UWM Digital Commons. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/3080/

Xu, L., Li, J., Mao, W., & Chi, I. (2023). Exploration of social exclusion among older Chinese immigrants in the USA. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 20*, 2539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41870-019-00355-1

Yamin, M (2019). Information technologies of 21st century and their impact on the society. International Journal of Information Technology, 11, 759–766. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41870-019-00355-1